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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TEWE

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the annual results for the year ended
31 March 2024 of Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) on behalf of the
Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company. The Group is
a maritime services provider in Hong Kong with over 20 years of
operating history. Services of the Group include (i) vessel chartering
and related services; (ii) ship management; and (iii) marine
construction.

During the year, the Group continued to develop new sources of
customers for the vessels chartering services and strengthen our
fleet to satisfy the increasing demand of vessel chartering in the
future. The Group has acquired 34% equity interest in Yun Lee
(Tim Kee) Marine Construction Limited (“YLTK”) (the “Acquisition”),
the Acquisition was completed in May 2023, YLTK has become
a subsidiary of the Group. The Group will tap into the marine
construction business through YLTK and it is expected the YLTK
will be the growth driver of the Group’s revenue and profits.

The Group’s financial position is solid, and will continue to maintain
our leading position in the industry, and expand our opportunities in
new projects.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHRSE

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT ES €|

The Group’s success this year relies on the efforts made by all AEERFANKEEFREEZEEIR
our staff and the management team during the past year. | would ~ BIEEBEBRBEE—F 28 - KA
like to express my sincere gratitude on behalf of the Board to the ~ LM EEREXEFE  HAEEERE
management and staff for their tremendous efforts and valuable REEBINBE-—FHNEHZBHEZ N
contribution in the past year and hope that we will continue to ~ REBEEBRBUAGE - FERKEEE
receive all your support in the future. We will continue to join hands B AKRZ#F - HMIKEBRREF - 8
with the shareholders and staff members to turn to a new and TMWEEF  RERKEHE  EME

brighter future. RINE)—H ©

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD REEFE

Wen Tsz Kit Bondy BASEEEZERERA
Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited B

Chairman P a3

Hong Kong B

27 June 2024 —EMFERAZ++HAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a maritime services provider in Hong Kong with over
20 years of operating history. The principle activities of the Group
are provision of (i) vessel chartering and related services; (i) ship
management services; and (jii) marine construction services in Hong
Kong. The Group’s vessel chartering and related services include
(i) time charter services; (i) voyage charter services; and (i) other
related services, such as provision of crew members, maritime
consultation services and vessel repair and maintenance services.
The Group provided its time charter and voyage charter services
through its vessel fleet, which comprises (i) 57 self-owned vessels
and (i) vessels chartered from third-party vessel suppliers from
time to time. The Group’s marine construction services include
marine construction and engineering services provided mainly to
contractors for marine construction projects in Hong Kong.

The shares of the Company had successfully listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 18 March 2019 (the “Listing”).

During the year, the Group provided its vessel chartering and
related services mainly to the marine construction contractors
of several marine infrastructure projects in Hong Kong, including
the Three-Runway System project in the Hong Kong International
Airport (“8RS Project”), Integrated Waste Management Facilities
Phase 1 project in Shek Kwu Chau (‘IWMF Project”), Hong Kong
offshore LNG terminal project and other short-term marine services
projects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

As there are numbers of high-profile development projects and
infrastructure projects related to marine construction works initiated
by the government of Hong Kong which reached their final stage
in recent years, management of the Group expects the demand of
the Group’s vessel chartering and related services for these marine
construction projects would diminish gradually. On the other hand,
for marine construction services, the Acquisition allows the Group
to capitalise on the majority of the duration and revenue of two
subcontracts marine construction agreements (the “Sub-contracts”)
with contract sum of approximately HK$540 million, providing the
Group with a long-term, stable and major customer until March
2027 which are expected to contribute to the Group’s revenue
in the future. The Group will continue to invest in its vessel fleet
and identify other opportunities in order to capture such business
opportunities.

Hong Kong has a long coastal line and the Government of Hong
Kong SAR (the“Government”) is dedicated to improving the
infrastructure of Hong Kong. As a result, the Directors believe
that the long term outlook of the local marine construction market
remains promising. The Company is in constant contact with
the relevant departments within the government setup and are
constantly being updated on the Government’s directions.

Overall speaking, management of the Group is cautiously optimistic
about the on-going growth of revenue and profits from the Group’s
vessel leasing and related services, ship management and marine
construction business in the short coming future.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s total revenue increased by approximately 39.5%,
from HK$239,876,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
HK$334,604,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. Such increase
was mainly attributed by a net effect of (i) the decreased revenue
of vessel chartering and related services a result of the completion
of certain significant and long-term contracts and decrease in the
demands for the Group’s overall vessel chartering and related
services from other short term marine services projects during
the year; and (i) the increased revenue caused by introduction of
marine construction services to the Group contributed from YLTK
Group after the Acquisition.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEVENT DISGUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cost of revenue

The Group’s cost of revenue primarily consists of vessel chartering
costs, staff costs and related expenses, subcontracting fees, repair
and maintenance expenses, fuel costs, depreciation expenses,
and other costs. The cost of revenue increased by approximately
58.8%, from HK$154,424,000 for the year ended 31 March
2023 to HK$245,194,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024,
which was mainly represented by a net effect of (i) the decreased
vessel chartering expenses payable to third-party vessel suppliers
and other costs related to services rendered to short term
marine services projects; and (i) the increased construction and
engineering costs of the marine construction projects contributed
by YLTK Group after the Acquisition during the year.
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Gross profit and gross profit margins

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately 4.6%,
from HK$85,452,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
HK$89,410,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. Meanwhile,
the Group’s gross profit margin decreased by approximately 8.9
percentage point from approximately 35.6% for the year ended
31 March 2023 to approximately 26.7% for the year ended 31
March 2024, which was mainly due to combined effect of (i) the
aforesaid decrease in the provision of third-party owned vessels,
which generated relatively lower gross profit margin than the
Group’s self-owned vessels; and (i) the lower gross profit margin
of approximately 8.8% contributed by marine construction services
segment after the Acquisition as a result of significant upfront
costs incurred during the earlier stage of the Subcontracts during
the year.

Other income

The Group’s other income decreased by approximately 43.7%,
from HK$4,734,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
HK$2,667,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. During the prior
year, the Group recognised government grants of HK$2,790,000 in
respect of COVID-19-related which relates to Employment Support
Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government.

Other gains and losses

The Group’s other gains increased from other losses of
HK$534,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to other gains of
HK$11,203,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. Such increase
mainly due to one-off gain on deemed disposal of equity interest of
YLTK for the current year.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
57.9%, from HK$43,338,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023
to HK$68,413,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024, which was
mainly attributable by a combined effect of (i) the increase in the
staff costs; (i) the increase in amortisation charge of intangible
assets of HK$2,830,000 as a result of business combination
of YLTK during the year, and (jii) the increase in administrative
expenses contributed by YLTK Group after the Acquisition during
the year.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs increased from HK$60,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2023 to HK$824,000 for the year ended 31
March 2024, which was attributable by a combined effect of (i)
the recognition of interest expenses from the new leases on lease
liabilities; and (i) increased interest expenses of bank and other
borrowings contributed by YLTK Group after the Acquisition.
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Share of results of associates

The Group recorded share of profits from associates of
HK$277,000 during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: share of
losses of HK$1,047,000). Such change mainly represented by the
share of profit of Eastlink Marine Services Limited.

Income tax expenses

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s income tax
expenses were HK$5,095,000 (2023: HK$7,615,000), and the
effective tax rate was approximately 14.7% (2023: approximately
15.5%).

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners
of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company decreased by approximately
12.3%, from HK$36,011,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
HK$31,584,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. Basic earnings
per share attributable to owners of the Company decreased from
approximately HK3.60 cents for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK3.16 cents for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Dividend

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary share in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK1.8 cents). The proposed final
dividend which totals HK$10,000,000 (2023: HK$18,000,000), if
approved at the forthcoming annual general meeting, will be paid
on 26 September 2024 to the shareholders on the register of
members as at 5 September 2024.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s trade and other receivables were increased by
approximately 40.5%, from HK$51,128,000 as at 31 March 2023
to HK$71,837,000 as at 31 March 2024.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s trade receivables turnover days decreased from
approximately 133.0 days for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately 58.2 days for the year ended 31 March 2024.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group had net current assets of HK$128,305,000 as at 31
March 2024 (2023: HK$157,985,000). The Group’s current ratio
recorded an decreased from approximately 5.1 as at 31 March
2023 to approximately 2.0 as at 31 March 2024.

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the interest bearing borrowings
excluding lease liabilities divided by total equity and multiplied by
100% at the respective reporting date. As at 31 March 2024, the
Group’s gearing ratio was approximately 7.23% (2023: nil), as there
were no debt as at 31 March 2023.

. 4 ¢
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Following the Listing, the Group’s operations were mainly financed
by internal resources including but not limited to existing cash and
cash equivalents, cash flow from its operating activities and the
net proceeds generated from the Listing. The Board believes that
the Group’s liquidity needs will be satisfied. With strengthened
liquidity position, the Group is able to expand in accordance with
its business strategy.

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group incurred capital expenditure of HK$2,748,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$32,778,000), mainly
represented the addition of leasehold improvements and vessels.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2024, save as disclosed elsewhere in this report,
the Group had no significant capital commitments (2023: nil). For
details, please see note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EW® ARBORBELEETR AN
BRREHES  BREMRREERSE
LBR2EHEBY KLEPHEENRSR
NMETEENMEBRIBFE  EFE M
F AHRESAUENAKRENRDES
R BEEBRORDESNANR A&
BAREBEERGREETRR

RRBRAFIEH R A M RKRN T
29 °

BEARREX
HE-_ZT-_WFEF=ZA=Z+—HBILFE -
REBEBELEEARFAEZ 2,748,000 (=
T =4 :32,778,000/8 L) BN
RENIEMERERMAOAT -

BAREE
RZZE_WFE=ZA=+—0 BEXHKE
HibE o R EEIN  REBLEE KR

ERRBE(ZCE-_=ZF:8) B
15 - BRHEREMERERME15 -

Annual Report 2024 43k

15



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

On 13 January 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to acquire additional 34% of equity interests from two
shareholders of YLTK at a total consideration of HK$23,800,000.
The Group was required to pay to the Vendors a total amount
of HK$11,900,000 in cash up to the completion date and the
remaining balance of HK$11,900,000 was settled by promissory
note payable. The promissory note carries an interest of 5% per
annum with a maturity date of 12 months from the completion
date.

According to the sales and purchase agreement, each of the
Vendors severally guaranteed that the aggregate audited net
profits attributable to the owners of YLTK for the financial years
ending 31 March 2024, 2025, and 2026 shall not be less than
HK$70,000,000. In the event of shortfall, each of the Vendors
severally undertakes to pay 17% of each shortfall within 30 days
after the issuance of the audited financial statements for the
financial year ending 31 March 2026. Prior to the Acquisition,
the Group holds 17% equity interest in YLTK and is classified as
an associate of the Group. On 2 May 2023, the Acquisition was
completed and the Group holds 51% equity interest in YLTK and
YLTK has become a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Group did not
conduct any significant investment, material acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries during the year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, save as disclosed elsewhere in this report,
the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2023:
nil).
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 March 2024, bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities
of HK$5,470,000 are secured by mortgages over the equipment
with an aggregate carrying value of HK$5,457,000.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Group had no other
material pledge of assets at 31 March 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, there were no significant
events affecting the Company nor any of its subsidiaries after
the end of the reporting period and up to the date of this report
requiring disclosure in this report.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEEREFS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, aged 56, an executive Director, the
Chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer of the Company
and one of the Controlling Shareholders. He is the co-founder
of the Group. He is also a Director of various subsidiaries of the
Group. Mr. Wen is the spouse of Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy and the
son of Mr. Chow Wai Ming’s cousin.

Mr. Wen has over 20 years of experience in the maritime services
industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Wen founded Yun Lee Tug Boat
Company Limited, being the subsidiary of the Group with the
longest operating history, with his father in November 1994 and
has been responsible for the overall management of the Group’s
operations and business development since then.

Mr. Wen has been a Committee member of The Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Tenth Beihai Committee since
September 2016. He has been a member (Launch & Excursion
Vessels’ Operations) of The Local Vessels Advisory Committee of
the Marine Department since December 2016. He was a member
of Election Committee of Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region in 2021. He was the President of Hong Kong
& Kowloon Motor Boats & Tug Boats Association Limited from
August 2017 to July 2023 and became its Life President since
August 2023.

Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy, aged 53, an executive Director. Ms.
Chan was appointed as a Director on 7 March 2018 and was re-
designated as an executive Director on 7 March 2018. She is also
a Director of various subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Chan is the
spouse of Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy.

Ms. Chan has over 20 years of experience in the maritime services
industry in Hong Kong. She obtained a national diploma in hotel,
catering and institutional operations issued by Tresham College in
the United Kingdom in June 1992. Ms. Chan joined the Group in
April 1995 and has been responsible for the overall management of
the Group’s finance and administrative matters since then.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chan Hei Ting, aged 31, an independent non-executive
Director, the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company, a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. She is primarily responsible for
providing independent judgment on the Group’s strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct.

Ms. Chan has practiced as a barrister-at-law in Hong Kong since
2019. Ms. Chan obtained her double-degree of Bachelor of Arts
in English Studies and Bachelor of Education in English Language
Education in 2015 and Degree of Juris Doctor in 2017 from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Ms. Chan obtained Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws in 2018 from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. She was called to the Bar in Hong Kong in 2019.

Ms. Hong Ting, aged 38, an independent non-executive Director,
the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company, a member
of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company. She is primarily responsible for providing
independent judgment on the Group’s strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct.

Ms. Hong obtained a Bachelor of Business degree from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2008. She is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong. She worked
for an international audit firm and has over 15 years of experience
in accounting, auditing, taxation and financial consulting.

Ms. Hong is currently the managing director of a certified public
accountants firm in Hong Kong. Ms. Hong is also currently an
independent non-executive director of World Houseware (Holdings)
Limited (a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, stock code: 713). Ms. Hong was an independent non-
executive director of Wai Chun Bio-Technology Limited (a company
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, stock code:
660) for the period from October 2022 to April 2024. She was a
non-executive director of Alco Holdings Limited (a company listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, stock code: 328)
for the period from June 2022 to January 2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ng Simon, aged 50, an independent non-executive Director,
the Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company, a
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent judgment on the Group’s strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct

Mr. Ng, has over 24 years of experience in the financial industry,
focusing on corporate finance advisory, fund raising, direct
investments and brokerage operations. Mr. Ng is the Chief Strategy
Officer of Unity Group Holdings International Limited, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the
issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code:1539). Mr. Ng was a member of the board
of director, the chief executive officer and a responsible officer
of Hooray Securities Limited (4F &% FFR A R]), a corporation
licensed to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) and Hooray Capital Limited (4F
BRI EBR AT, a corporation licensed to carry out Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activity under the SFO
until 31 March 2023. Mr. Ng obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours
Economics) degree from Wilfrid Laurier University, Canada in 1996
and a Master of Economics degree from The University of Hong
Kong in 1997.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Tai Kee, aged 70, a director of MKK Marine Services
Limited (“MKK Marine”). He joined the Group in August 2014 and
is primarily responsible for the overall management of the Group’s
ship management services.

Mr. Cheung has over 30 years of experience in the marine industry.
He obtained a Bachelor of Science in Maritime Business from
Polytechnic South West (now known as Plymouth University),
United Kingdom in July 1991. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Cheung was a licensed Senior Harbour Pilot of Hong Kong
Pilots Association Limited from November 1994 to July 2015.
He previously held the Certificate of Competency (Deck Officer)
Class 1 (Master Mariner) issued by the Government of the United
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland in January 1987,
which was later replaced by the Certificate of Competency issued
under the Provisions of The International Convention on Standards
of Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers 1978, as
amended in 1995, issued in August 2003. Mr. Cheung is currently
an authorised surveyor pursuant to section 7 of the Merchant
Shipping (Local Vessels) Ordinance for a period of three years from
October 2017.

Mr. Chow Wai Ming, aged 58, a senior manager of the Group and
a director of MKK Marine. He first joined the Group in November
1994 as a manager and was subsequently promoted to senior
manager in January 2009, is primarily responsible for the overall
management of the Group’s vessel chartering and related services.
Mr. Chow is the cousin of Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy’s father.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chow has over 20 years of experience in the maritime services
industry. He has been examined by the Marine Department and
has been considered competent to take charge of a motor over
150 B.H.P. from March 1995. He also holds the Local Certificate
of Competency — Coxswain and Pleasure Vessel Operator
Certificate of Competency, both issued by the Marine Department,
in December 2013 and January 2014, respectively. Furthermore,
Mr. Chow holds (i) a Certificate of Training for Shipboard Crane
Operator Safety Training Course issued by Origin Production
Limited T/A The Hong Kong Safety Training Association in
December 2015, which indicates that Mr. Chow could operate
crane types one to five; (ii) a Certificate of Training for Works
Supervisor Safety Training Course issued by Origin Production
Limited T/A The Hong Kong Safety Training Association in April
2016, which indicates that Mr. Chow could supervise shipboard
cargo handling work; and (i) a Certificate of Competent Person
and Certified Worker issued by Occupational Safety & Health
Management Institute in April 2016. Mr. Chow has also been the
Honorary President of The Institute of Port Facility Security Officers
(Hong Kong) since May 2016.

Mr. Lo Kwun Kit, aged 35, joined the Group as the financial
controller and company secretary since 30 October 2023 and is
primarily responsible for accounting and financial management,
company secretary, tax, treasury, internal control and other finance
related matters of the Group.

Mr. Lo has over 10 years of experience in the relevant experience.
From 2013 to 2023, Mr. Lo served as an auditor in several
professional firms including two of the big four international
accounting firms in Hong Kong as well as financial controllers
and company secretary of three main board listed companies
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lo obtained a bachelor degree of Business
Administration with major in accountancy and minor in finance
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2013 and has
been an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and an associate member of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales since 2016 and
2023, respectively.

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited 8F/8%E £ EiER AR A7)

BRERBERBERBB20FLK5R -
BER—NWNWAF=ABREERZE
%o WHRBR/EERIBREBIRIS0CESE
NESHE - BHNBE_T—=F+_A
&:%*EE*HiHﬁﬁ$??ﬁ
WA ERFTRE MR RELEM

BIEAZHE - %W’H%i%ﬁﬁm
Origin Production Limited T/AEE%Z %2
BIgR—_T—RFT+_ABENOM L

RERREEIIRRARESE  RRAKX
HERRE—ZRBEEM (i) B Origin

Production Limited T/ABEZ 2
R-_ZT—RNFNABEENN EEYERE
TREBEEIRREEZE  RTALE
ATEEEMEEMEETE  Ri)BER
PRERBEEMAETAPLNR _Z—RNENA
%ﬁmAﬁﬁAi&H%Iﬁ%ﬁ%°
AEENMBZE—AAFRABHEED
BHEREAB (BB )HEEEER -

EEfLE 35 HZZE-_=F1A7
= tTHERMARNESEETHBEERA

AWE WFEAEAEESH LTS
EIE - NEWE - BIE - B RERE
# R EA I SEEER -

EXEHEBIOFHBALER  EXE
BTG T _—FRETZH
BESHMEBMOZEAE - 2haE
BAMABEE S MEEAOEPRE
NI M&F—@%%zﬁim Gik
UM BBERRNAIME - BEEXERT
—ZFRSEEABEIASTIRERES L+
B @it k#EEes XoH58
TE-RFEERE_—FHRAFSGE
MAEEEUNRRBEMERIRTAR

EEI-I—E L\\@%ﬂ/g\ °



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Mui Yuk Wah, aged 40, was the financial controller and
company secretary of the Company. He joined the Group in 2018
and is primarily responsible for the financial reporting and financial
control matters, and the company secretarial matters of the Group.
He resigned as our financial controller and Company Secretary on
30 October 2023.

Mr. Mui has over 15 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and handling company secretarial matters. He obtained a Bachelor
of Social Science in Economics from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in December 2007 and has been a Certified
Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since October 2012. He was a Director and Company
Secretary of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8148) for the period from
February 2016 to March 2017 and February 2016 to August 2016
respectively. He was a Company Secretary of HongDa Financial
Holding Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1822) for the period from May 2017 to November 2017.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERAHRS

The Board hereby presents this corporate governance report in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to achieving high
corporate governance standards. The Board believes that good
corporate governance standards are essential in providing
a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of
shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability. The Company has adopted the principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
as the basis of the Company’s corporate governance practices

In preparation for the Listing, the Company engaged an
independent internal control adviser (the “IC Adviser”) to perform a
review of the procedure, system and control (including accounting
and management systems) of the Group. Based on its internal
control review, the IC Adviser recommended certain internal control
improvement measures to the Group and the Group has adopted
them. The Directors were of the view that the internal control
systems were adequate and sufficient in the circumstances.
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CODES COMPLIANCE

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of
the CG Code and has complied with the CG Code for the year
ended 31 March 2024, except in relation to provision A.2.1 of
the CG Code which requires that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, an executive
Director, is both the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company. With over 20 years of experience in the
maritime industry in Hong Kong, Mr. Wen has been responsible for
the overall management of the Group’s operations and business
development and has been instrumental to the Group’s growth and
business expansion since November 1994. The Board considers
that vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer in the
same person is beneficial to the management of the Group. The
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the
senior management and the Board, which comprises experienced
and high-calibre individuals. The Board currently comprises two
executive Directors (including Mr. Wen) and three independent
non-executive Directors and therefore has a strong independence
element in its composition.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions (the “Securities Dealing Code”)
by the Directors and employees who, because of his office or
employment in the Group, is likely to possess inside information of
the Company.

In response to specific enquires made by the Company, all
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code and the Securities Dealing
Code for the year ended 31 March 2024.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company is not aware of
any incident of non-compliance of the Securities Dealing Code by
the relevant employees
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board consists of five directors, comprising two
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Chan Hei Ting
Ms. Hong Ting
Mr. Ng Simon
(appointed on 12 May 2023)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 18 to 23 of this annual report.

The relationships between the Directors are also disclosed in the
respective Director’s biography under the section “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 18 to 23 of
this annual report.
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Attendance Records of Directors and Committee Members

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors. The
attendance record of each director at the Board meetings, Board
Committee meetings and general meeting held during the year
ended 31 March 2024 is set out in the table below:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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ZAREREN K ¢

Attendance/Number of Meetings

il V- V|

Nomination Audit  Remuneration Annual general

Board Committee Committee Committee meeting

Name of Director ] Ezg RE¥ZEE ERZEE yHMzEe RRAFAE

Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy BFHEE 4/4 N/A T A N/A T N/A TN 1/1

Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy RERZT 4/4 N/A TNE R N/A 7N N/A MR 11

Ms. Chan Hei Ting RAERT 4/4 202 3/3 17 1

Ms. Hong Ting Bt 4/4 212 3/3 17 17

Mr. Ng Simon et 4/4 1 3/3 1A 11

(appointed on (R-B-=%
12 May 2023) RA+-BEZHA)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FEHEITHAER

Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, an executive Director, is both the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.
With over 20 years of experience in the maritime industry in Hong
Kong, Mr. Wen has been responsible for the overall management
of the Group’s operations and business development and has
been instrumental to the Group’s growth and business expansion
since November 1994. The Board considers that vesting the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer in the same person is
beneficial to the management of the Group.

ATEFRFTHREERBRERARRE
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Following the resignation of Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis on 15 February
2023, the Company failed to meet the requirements of (i) having
at least three independent non-executive Directors on the Board
under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules and (i) having a minimum of
three non-executive directors in the Audit Committee under Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules.

Following the appointment of Mr. Ng Simon on 12 May 2023, the
Company has complied with the requirements of Rule 3.10(1) and
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Board met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors,
representing at least one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of three years, subject to renewal after
the expiry of the then current term.

The Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of
Association”) provides that all Directors appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to re-election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after appointment.

Under the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved and adopted the dividend policy (“Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may declare and
distribute dividends to the Shareholders to allow Shareholders
to share the Company’s profits and for the Company to retain
adequate reserves for future growth.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company proposed to commence
paying a dividend in each financial year to shareholders of the
Company, the amount of which will be determined by the Board
after taking into account the factors set out below over the next few
years. Thereafter, the Company will likely seek to adopt a dividend
payout ratio based on its core earnings, details of which will be
announced by the Company as and when appropriate.

While the Company intends to declare and pay dividend in the
future, the amount of any dividend payment for any financial year
will be subject to, among other things:

(@ the Company maintaining an optimal capital structure to
ensure that adequate capital resources are available for
business growth and investment opportunities;

(b)  the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

(c) the availability of dividends received by the Company from its
subsidiaries;

(d) the Group’s cash flow and liquidity position; and

(e) prevailing economic and market conditions and other factors
that may impact the business or financial performance of the
Group.

In addition, the declaration and payment of dividends by the
Company is further subject to compliance with applicable laws
and regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands and the
Company’s articles of association.
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The Board will take the above factors into account when it
evaluates the merits, amount and timing of future dividend
payments. The Company in general meeting may declare dividends
but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the
Board.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed by the Board from time to
time and there is no assurance that dividends will be proposed or
declared in any particular amount for any given period.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management
of the Company are delegated to the management under the
supervision of Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, the Chairman.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and sKills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors will be
arranged and reading material on relevant topics will be provided to
Directors where appropriate.
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Directors have participated in the following trainings during the year
ended 31 March 2024:

HE-_ZSE-_WNF=A=+—HILFE "
BEp2E B

Type of training’“*

Name of Directors EENA 1IN R
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy BFEEE B
Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy PRFER LT B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHBITESE
Ms. Chan Hei Ting PR 22 & A&B
Ms. Hong Ting HiFZ+ A&B
Mr. Ng Simon Attt
(appointed on 12 May 2023) (RZZE_=ZFRA+=-—HEZMT) A&B
Note: PRE -
Types of Training: EIEER
A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, expert briefings, A: HEMBEBEETEMNEXRHNE  Hde -
seminars, conferences and workshops Bk TEDEEIIRE
B: Reading relevant journals, rulebooks, guidelines and relevant updates and B: MEAHEET - HAFM - B3l AREEX
publications BB MR
BOARD COMMITTEES EEZXEE

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 20 September 2018, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee are posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out under the
section headed “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this annual
report.
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Audit Committee

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the Company’s financial information, overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems, reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and making recommendation
to the Board on the appointment of external auditor, and reviewing
the arrangements for employees of the Company can use to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee held
three meetings to discuss the audit planning with the auditors and
to review the annual financial results and reports for the year ended
31 March 2023, the interim financial results and reports for the six
months period ended 30 September 2023 and significant issues
on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls,
the effectiveness of the risk management, appointment of external
auditors and relevant scope of works.

Remuneration Committee

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management, the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management; and establishing transparent procedures
for developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and made recommendation
on policy and structure for Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration; to review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate goals
and objectives of the Board; and to review and determine on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management.
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Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, making recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
and assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

The Company also recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
The Board has adopted a “Board Diversity Policy” (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board
and the Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the Policy. In assessing the Board composition,
the Nomination Committee would take into account various
aspects as well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out
in the Policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, or professional experience etc. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions which may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Nomination Committee
held two meeting to review the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and
the Policy, and made recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and to review and make recommendation to the Board on re-
election of retiring Directors.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and the Securities
Dealing Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this corporate governance report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the remuneration paid/
payable in respect of the services provided by the Group’s external
auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out below:
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Amounts HK$’000

Type of services PRiEER SETER
Annual audit services F S EIZARTE 1,500
Total 4Bt 1,500

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company currently does not have an internal audit department,
and has engaged an independent professional internal control
consulting firm (“Internal Control Reviewer”) to review the
Group’s internal control system, policy and procedures and report
to the Audit Committee their findings and recommendations. The
Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit function and
is of the view that in light of the size and nature of the business
of the Group, instead of setting up an internal audit department,
it would be more cost effective to appoint external independent
professionals to carry out evaluations on the internal control
systems, and the risk management system of the Group on an on-
going basis. The Board will review at least annually the need for
setting up an internal audit function.

The Board concluded that in general, the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate. The Board
will continue to assess the effectiveness of risk management and
internal controls by considering reviews and recommendations
made by the audit committee, senior management and Internal
Control Reviewer.
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MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Group’s risk governance structure and the main responsibilities
of each level of the structure are summarised below:

The Board is responsible to determine the business strategies and
objectives of the Group, and evaluate and determine the nature and
extent of risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives; ensures that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems; and oversees management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board to
perform its responsibilities of risk management and internal control
systems; overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis; reviewing the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems at
least annually, and such review should cover all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance control; ensures the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions; and considers major findings on
risk management and internal control matters, and reports and
makes recommendations to the Board.

Senior management of the Group designs, implements and
maintains appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems; identifies, evaluates and manages the risk that
may potentially impact the major processes of the operations;
monitors risk and takes measures to mitigate risk in day-to-day
operations and provides confirmation to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems.
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RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company
has developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to resolve material internal control
defects. Senior management of the Group is responsible for the
annual risk reporting process. Independent external consultant
meets with various members of the senior management to review
and assess risks and discuss solutions to address material internal
control defects, including any changes relevant to a given year.
Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned and mitigation plans are
documented. The risk assessment is reviewed by certain members
of the senior management and presented to the Audit Committee
and the Board for their review.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and the Group’s senior
management based on (i) the severity of the impact of the risk on
the Company’s financial results; and (i) the probability that the risk
will occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage the risks as
follows:

- Risk elimination — the Group’s senior management may
identify and implement certain changes or controls that in
effect eliminate the risk entirely.

- Risk mitigation — the Group’s senior management may
implement a risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the
likelihood, velocity or severity of the risk to an acceptable
level.

- Risk retention — the Group’s senior management may decide
that the risk rating is low enough that the risk is acceptable for
the Company and that no action is required. The risk would
continue to be monitored as part of the risk management
program to ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.
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INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company adopted an inside information disclosure policy
(the “Inside Information Disclosure Policy”) which sets out the
procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside information
with a view to preventing uneven, inadvertent or selective
dissemination of inside information and ensuring shareholders and
the public are provided with full, accurate and timely information
about the activities and the financial condition of the Group. The
Inside Information Disclosure Policy covers the following:

* setting out the processes for identifying, assessing and
escalating potential inside information to the Board;

* gsetting out the responsibilities of officers in preserving the
confidentiality of inside information, escalating upwards any
such potential information and cascading down the message
and responsibilities to relevant staff; and

e dentifying who are the Company’s authorised spokespersons
and their responsibilities for communications with
stakeholders of the Company.

In addition, the Company has communicated to all relevant staff
regarding the implementation of the Inside Information Disclosure
Policy.

The Board considers that the Company’s existing measures are
effective and appropriate compliance mechanisms to safeguard the
Company and its officers in discharging their disclosure obligations
in respect of inside information are in place.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

The statements of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 90 to 96 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Lo Kwun Kit, who
fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the Listing Rules.
Biographical details of Mr. Lo are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report. During the year ended 31 March 2024, Mr. Lo has
taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

WHISTLEBLOWER SYSTEM

The Company has a whistleblower system through which our
stakeholders can report their knowledge or reasonable doubt
of fraudulent acts, misconduct or non-compliance with laws or
internal policies relating to our Group.

Our Board is responsible for overseeing the system and following
up on all valid reports filed in goodwill. While we welcome filings in
confidence, we undertake to protect goodwill whistleblowers from

being retaliated.

Whistleblowers shall file their reports in address to our Chairman of
the Board by ways of:

- by mailing to our registered office in Hong Kong or,

- by emailing to whistleblowing@yunlee.com.hk
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Directors. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, an extraordinary
general meeting shall also be convened on the requisition of one or
more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall
be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary for the
purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two calendar months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Islands Companies Law for shareholders of the Company to move
new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders of the Company
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing a person
for election as a director of the Company, please refer to the
“Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director” of the Company which is posted on the Company’s
website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders of the Company may send written enquiries to the
Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries.
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Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address:  Flat D, 31/F., Billion Plaza Il,

10 Cheung Yue Street,

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@yunlee.com.hk

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings. At the annual general
meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available
to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.yunlee.com.hk as
a communication platform with the shareholders and investors,
where the financial information and other relevant information of the
Company are available for public access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted by a special resolution the second
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
on 30 August 2022. For further details, please refer to the circular
of the Company dated 28 July 2022 and the announcement of
the Company dated 30 August 2022. The Company’s second
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. Save as disclosed above, there was no change to the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association during the
reporting period.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI HENRERHS

SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) report
of Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and
together with its subsidiaries referred as the “Group”), highlighting
its ESG performance, with disclosure reference made to the ESG
Reporting Guide as described in Appendix C2 of the Main Board
Listing Rules and Guidance set out by The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

The Group is a maritime services provider in Hong Kong with an
operating history of over twenty years. This ESG report covers
the Group’s overall performance in two subject areas, namely,
Environmental and Social aspects of the business operations in
Hong Kong from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting
Period”), unless otherwise stated. The business operations include
provisions of the following services:

»  vessel chartering and related services, including:
- the provision of vessels, crew members, maritime
consultation services, vessel repair and maintenance
services; and

»  ship management services, including:

- the daily operations, as well as repair and maintenance
services for third-party-owned vessels.

During the Reporting Period, one new office was established in
Kwai Chung, and the following are the 3 main operations included
in the reporting scope:

e  Cheung Sha Wan Office

e Mong Kok Office

e  Kwai Chung Office
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Reporting Principles
The preparation of the ESG Report has applied the following
principles:

Materiality — materiality assessments have been carried out to
identify material environmental and social issues that have major
impacts on investors and other stakeholders, the significant
stakeholders, procedures, and results of the engagement are
presented in the section “Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality”
in the Report.

Quantitative — key performance indicators (“KPI”s) have been
established, and are measurable and applicable to make valid
comparisons under appropriate conditions; information on the
standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools
used, and sources of conversion factors used, have been disclosed
when applicable.

Balance — performance of the Group was presented impartially,
avoiding choices, omissions or presentation formats that may
unduly influence readers’ decisions or judgements.

Consistency — consistent statistical methodologies and presentation
of KPIs have been used to allow meaningful comparisons of related
data over time.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
Stakeholder Engagement

The Group engages with stakeholders on an ongoing basis to
better understand their expectations and views on ESG issues.
The Group’s stakeholders, such as investors, shareholders,
employees, customers and suppliers have been involved in various
communication methods, including regular meetings, questionnaire
surveys and written communication to discuss and review areas of
attention, which ultimately helps the business to meet its potential
growth and be prepared for future challenges.
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Materiality Assessment

In preparing this ESG report, the Group specifically engaged with
key stakeholders, namely the Board of Directors (the “Board”),
senior management, frontline staff, customers and suppliers as
part of the materiality assessment process to identify and prioritise
ESG material issues that are crucial for the Group’s sustainable
development during the Reporting Period. Results of the materiality
assessment and the consolidated list of ESG material aspects are
presented in the following matrix and table, respectively.
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Environmental

Al
A2

A3

A4

A5

A6

A7

Energy
Water

Air Emission

Waste and Effluent
Other Raw

Materials Consumption
Environmental
Protection Policies
Climate Change

Social
B1
B2

B3
B4
BS

B6

B7

B8
B9

Employment

Occupational Health and
Safety

Development and Training
Labour Standards

Supply Chain
Management

Intellectual Property Rights

Data Protection
Customer Service
Product/Service Quality

B10 Anti-corruption

B11

Community Investment
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Among the environmental and social aspects, the following topics
are identified as the most important issues by stakeholders:

o o kD=

Anti-corruption
Product/Service Quality
Occupational Health and Safety
Data Protection
Customer Service
Labour Standard

The Group aims to keep in close communication with its
stakeholders and continue improving its ESG performance and
management of ESG-related risks for future business development.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK
The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG approach
and performance. Suggestions and views can be sent via email at
info@yunlee.com.hk.
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RECOGANITION

The Group has obtained the following recognition:

e  The member of the Hong Kong & Kowloon Motor Boats &
Tug Boats Association (‘“MBTA”), and the Chairman of the
Group is the president of the association.

THE BOARD STATEMENT

The Board is fully responsible for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting. It closely monitors the daily operations of the Group
through regular meetings and discussions with the management
of different business units to keep track of the Group’s business
and ESG performance including reviewing progress made against
ESG-related targets. The Board constantly reviews and updates
its policies, and advances its ESG approaches to comply with the
latest industry regulations and ESG requirements imposed by the
government.

The Board believes that a comprehensive ESG management
approach can help minimise business, environmental, and social
risks, as well as enhance the values of the Group, ensuring
compliance with laws and regulations, thereby leading to the long-
term sustainability of the business. Therefore, the Group integrates
sustainability considerations into its decision-making processes for
its ongoing business operations.

The Group’s Internal Audit Department (or an external professional
agency hired by the Board of Directors and audit committee)
is responsible for assessing and determining the Group’s
environmental, social and governance risks on an annual basis,
and ensuring that the Group has established appropriate and
effective environmental, social and governance risk management
and internal surveillance system. The internal Audit Department is
responsible to confirm the effectiveness of the system to the Board.
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The Board maintains a close attachment to the industry bodies and
has taken a role in relevant trade associations. As a member of
Hong Kong and Kowloon Motor Boats and Tug Boats Association,
the Board fosters knowledge sharing, establishes close ties, and
facilitates collaborations with other industry bodies. By participating
in this association, the Board keeps abreast of the latest
developments in environmental and safety regulations and obtains
practical advice and assistance from the association on accident
insurance and shares the information of the industry association
with employees via online communication. The Group’s executive
directors closely monitor the daily operations of the Group and
participate in meetings with the management of each business
unit to keep track of the Group’s business performance and ESG
matters.

Moreover, the Group is dedicated to the provision of promising
and high-quality products and services to its customers. To ensure
the safety and seaworthiness of vessels, the Group has appointed
chartered surveyors to carry out annual inspections of the Group’s
vessel fleet, and properly maintain its operating licenses. All crew
members are required to adhere to the requirements stipulated
in the Code of Safe Working Practice, ensuring the Group’s
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is continually committed to operating its business in
an environmentally-friendly manner. It strives to provide favourable
returns for its shareholders while practising environmental
sustainability in its operations. Therefore, the Group ensures to
abide by all relevant local laws and regulations about environmental
protection and pollution control, as enforced by the Marine
Department and Environmental Protection Department of Hong
Kong, including:

- Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) Ordinance, Chapter 548 of
Law of Hong Kong;

- Shipping and Port Control Ordinance, Chapter 313 of Law of
Hong Kong;

- Merchant Shipping (Prevention and Control of Pollution)
Ordinance, Chapter 413 of Law of Hong Kong;
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- Merchant Shipping (Prevention of Qil Pollution) Regulations,
subsidiary legislation under Chapter 413 of Law of Hong
Kong;

- Merchant Shipping (Control of Pollution by Noxious Liquid
Substances in Bulk) Regulations, subsidiary legislation under
Chapter 413 of Law of Hong Kong;

- Merchant Shipping (Prevention of Air Pollution) Regulation,
Chapter 413P of Law of Hong Kong;

- Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Chapter 311 of Law of Hong
Kong;

- Air Pollution Control (Fuel for Vessels) Regulation, Chapter
311AB of Law of Hong Kong;

- Air Pollution Control (Marine Light Diesel) Regulation, Chapter
311Y of Law of Hong Kong;

- Dumping at Sea Ordinance, Chapter 466 of Law of Hong
Kong; and

- Water Pollution Control Ordinance, Chapter 358 of Law of
Hong Kong.

During the Reporting Period, there were no instances of non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have inflicted
a significant impact on the Group in the aspects of air and
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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A1. Emissions

ALT Air Emissions

The Group’s fossil-fuelled vessels and vehicles were used for daily
business operations and commuting during the Reporting Period,
which contributed to the emission of nitrogen oxides (“NOx”),
respiratory suspended particles (“RSP”) and sulphur oxides (“SOx”).
The numbers of each type of emission are displayed in the table
below.
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A1, HEBX
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Mobile fuel source

Air emissions' (non-GHG)
from the vehicle operations
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NOx (kg) SO« (kg) RSP (kg)
s mELY  WELY TRABTRT
AR RFARR (AF) (AF) (AF)
Petrol i 73.2 0.06 5.39

A1.2 GHG Emissions

GHG emissions were generated directly from the consumption of
fuels, including petrol, diesel and LPG for group-owned vehicles
and vessels. Additionally, indirect GHG emissions were generated
from the consumption of purchased electricity and wastepaper
disposal.

During the Reporting Period, the Group business operation
contributed to the emission of 3,294.11 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent (“tCOzeq.”), mainly carbon dioxide, methane and
nitrous oxide. The overall intensity of the GHG emissions was 6.53
tCO2eq./m? with reference to the total floor area of the Group’s
offices, or 9.22 tCO2eq./million Hong Kong dollars with reference to
the Group’s total revenue. Due to the business nature, the Group
consumed a significant amount of light diesel oil, LPG for the
operation of vessels and consumed petrol and diesel for vehicles,
representing 95% of the overall GHG emission.
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|
GHG Total GHG

Emission Emission
Scope of Greenhouse Gas Emissions Emission Sources (tCO:2eq.) (%)
BERE
BmE WRERE
(W8 = S| 1L i BmE

BER MR BERRIR EE) (B k)
Scope 1 Direct Emissions
HE1HEEHER
Combustion of fuel for mobile sources Diesel (including 1,4338.27 94%

marine light diesel)
T B RO R 5 R K Sem(BiEMmARE )

Petrol 109.79

YU

LPG 1,681.43

BIE AR
Scope 2 Indirect Emissions
HiRS 2 A HER
Purchased electricity 165.17 5%
EBEED
Scope 3 Other Indirect Emissions
Bi0S 3 H th B HE Bk
Paper waste disposal 4.45 <1%
REEXK
Total 3,294.11 100%
we

Note 1:  The air emissions from vessels were not reported since the information on Bzt 1: ARBEEBAEE B R &R IR ZER -
vessel activity was not readily accessible. BEAE 2 51| 5 B R RE B9 BE R BERL ©

Note 2:  Emission factors for GHG emissions were made in reference to Appendix WieFo . BEEEBI)  BEREHMEH TS

C2 of the Main Board Listing Rules and their referred documentation as HREETIR FTRRINEEC2 REEX S
set out by Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited unless stated RGEERANFAFTEAIGEX AT ©
otherwise.

Note 3:  The annual absolute amount of the combustion of fuels for vessels were BiaEs : FrERZEREHNEREF EFESEFERA
used for calculating the GHG emissions and energy consumption rather R ER FEEHE  MH—F
than using the annual average amount in the reporting period 2021/22. S FIRE R R T E e
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A1.3 Hazardous Waste

The business operations of the Group did not involve the generation
of any significant hazardous waste. Hence, no such information is
presented in this report.

A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not generate a
significant amount of non-hazardous waste. Hence, no such
information is presented in this report.

Al5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions

Navigation Sources

To control emissions from its vessels, the Group adopts ultra-
low sulphur diesel (i.e. sulphur content not exceeding 0.05%) for
its vessel fleet, as required according to the Air Pollution Control
(Marine Light Diesel) Regulation (Chapter 311Y of Law of Hong
Kong). Compared with conventional fuels, the use of cleaner fuels
reduces SOx and PM emissions by 90% and 30%, respectively.
Besides, the Group ensures the rental vessels comply with relevant
laws and regulations. They must pass ship inspections and acquire
license renewal issued by the Marine Department.

The Group has also instilled controlling measures on the emission
of dark smoke from vessels. Vessels are operated by experienced
personnel and are professionally maintained. The Group’s vessel
fleet is inspected by chartered surveyors to ensure the proper
operation of engines. The Ringelmann Chart is used to measure
dark smoke emissions from vessels, ensuring that no excessive
dark smoke (i.e. dark smoke which is as dark as or darker
than shade 2 on the Ringelmann Chart for 3 minutes or more
continuously at any one time) is emitted from vessels in the waters
of Hong Kong.
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The Group strives to maintain a sustainable business performance.
The Group has set a target of decreasing 5% of GHG intensity in
tCO2eqg/million Hong Kong dollars with reference to the Group’s
total revenue within 10 years, with the financial year 2021/22 as the
base year. The GHG emission intensity in tCO2eq./m? and tCO2eq./
million HKD revenue decreased by 5% and 1% respectively
compared with the base year. The Group will continue to review the
existing GHG reduction measures in order to improve the efficiency
of the reduction measures in the long term.

Road Transportation Sources

The Group measures and analyses its fuel consumption patterns
and encourages the use of public transportation to raise
employees’ consciousness of environmental protection. Proper
vehicle maintenance is also conducted to reduce smoke emissions,
thus mitigating potential impacts on the surrounding environment.

A1.6 Wastes Handling and Reduction Initiatives

Used lubricating oils are regarded as hazardous waste due to their
hazardous properties. Hence, these items are typically sent to
eligible waste handlers for disposal immediately. Alternatively, the
Group has developed a general practice of transferring the waste
oils to its business partners for beneficial reuse.

Wastepaper was the major non-hazardous waste generated during
the Reporting Period. Consequently, wastepaper is collected at the
designated point, and single-sided printouts are reused for notes
and as scrap paper. The Group continues to seek paperless office
solutions, such as encouraging paperless meetings and electronic
documentation to further minimise paper consumption.

The Group did not dispose of a significant amount of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes through its business activities and
its effect on the environment was considered minimal, so no
hazardous and non-hazardous waste reduction targets have been
set during the Reporting Period. However, the Group continues to
advocate for the reduction of waste at the source and promotes
greater reuse of otherwise wasted materials during its business
operations.
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A2. Use of Resources

Although the Group has not established any standard policies on
the effective use of resources, it has encouraged its employees to
follow resource conservation practices at offices and its business
operations.

A2.1 Energy Consumption

The Group’s business operations resulted in a total of 14,721,152
kWh of energy consumption from the use of electricity, marine light
diesel for vessels, diesel and petrol for vehicles, with an overall
intensity of 29,171 kWh/m?2 with reference to the total floor area of
the Group’s offices or 41,213 kWh/million Hong Kong dollars with
reference to the Group’s total revenue.
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Direct/Indirect Energy Consumption = Consumption Intensity Hong Kong

Consumption Sources (Unit) (kWh) (kWh/m?) Dollars)
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HER HER (FRE/ (FEBE

HEEEREREERR (Efr) (TE®) FHK) BE#BT)

Electricity EW) 423,510 KWh FE B 423,510 839.22 1,185.64

Diesel (Including som (B iEk M 659,353 Litres 7t 7,057,215 13,984 19,757
Marine Light Diesel) ~ FRER4Em)

Petrol Y 41,139 Litres 7+ 398,696 790.05 1,116.17

LPG BALRHR 941,831 Litres F+ 6,841,731 13,557.38 19,153.78

A2.2 Water Consumption and Efficiency Initiatives

The water supply and discharge of the Group were managed by
the building’s management office. Therefore, the costs of usage
were included in the management fees. It is thus concluded that
the Group did not consume a significant amount of water through
its business activities and the water consumption was considered
minimal, so no water efficiency target has been set during the
Reporting Period.
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The Group continuously conserves water as a resource even if
the water usage of its operations is minimal or insignificant. During
the Reporting Period, the Group did not encounter any issues in
sourcing water fit for purpose in its daily operations.

A2.3 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group promotes and supports green and sustainable
procurement in its office operations. The Group has set the energy
use efficiency target as reducing 5% of energy consumption
intensity in kWh/million HKD with reference with the Group’s
total revenue within 10 years, with the financial year 2021/22
as the base year. The energy consumption intensity in kWh/m?
decreased by 3%, but in KWh/million HKD revenue increased by 2%
compared with the base year. The Group will continue to review
the existing energy consumption reduction measures in order to
maintain its business efficiency by minimising the use of energy. For
instance, when selecting office equipment, priority is always given
to energy-efficient equipment. Air conditioning is maintained at an
optimal temperature during summer and winter for energy-saving
pUrposes.

A2.4 Packaging Materials

No packaging materials were used for the business operations of
the Group. Hence, no such information is presented in this report.
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

A3.1 Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment

The Group is committed to alleviating the environmental impacts
associated with vessel chartering and maritime transportation
services. It has established management policies in line with
the emission control strategy set out by the government to
ensure proper environmental protection and compliance with
environmental laws and regulations during its vessel operations.

A series of measures have been implemented to reduce air
pollution and improve the conditions of the marine environment.
The Group strictly enforces the use of low-sulphur compliant
fuel for its vessel fleet to lower harmful exhaust emissions. The
standardised operating procedures and routine vessel maintenance
not only prevent excessive dark smoke emissions from vessels, but
also facilitate safe and efficient vessel operation, such that the life
span of vessels could be extended, and the vessel performance
could be optimised. Regular training sessions are conducted for
crew members to ensure that they are conscious and proactive
towards environmental protection.

Specifically, the Group has established in-house rules on the
disposal of waste oil, chemicals, galley waste and garbage. Crew
members are required to oversee and comply with relevant laws
and regulations in respect of the prevention and control of pollution
in the waters of Hong Kong, such as the Merchant Shipping
(Local Vessels) Ordinance (Chapter 548 of Law of Hong Kong)
and Shipping and Port Control Ordinance (Chapter 313 of Law
of Hong Kong). The regulatory requirements outlined in the Crew
Handbook regulate the behaviours of crew members and prevent
environmental damages (e.g., excessive dark smoke emissions,
discharge of oil into the waters).
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A4. Climate Change

Governance of Climate-related Risks Management

The Board focuses on managing the risks brought by climate
change, integrating ESG, including climate-related issues into the
corporate governance process, improving board-level supervision,
and leading the management to cope with the climate risk in
the existing business processes and the impact on the Group’s
overall strategy. The climate-related risks management has been
integrated into the Group’s risk management system. The Board
has the responsibility to cooperate with inter-disciplined working
group to monitor the effectiveness of its climate-related risks
management, discuss, report and formulate related measures
within the risk management process, such as the Board meetings,
and formulate emergency plans according to the risks identified
in order to strengthen its ability to cope with the negative impacts
brought from extreme weather emergency conditions. The Group
strives to ensure normal production and operations, and maintain
the safety of public security and employees’ life and property. For
detailed information about the ESG governance of the Group,
please refer to “The Board Statement” section.

Climate-related Risks Management

An ESG risk assessment was conducted based on assessing the
possibility and impact of each identified risk into three levels: high,
medium and low. Risks are then classified into three overall risk
levels, high, medium and low based on the possibility and impact
ratings.
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Risk levels Definition of the overall risk levels

B B 4% 1 AR RN ESR

High Risks at this level may have serious consequences. There will highly likely be some impacts on
the Group and hindrances for the Group to achieve strategic goals.

= AN ERFIESSIBBEERR - BAARHAEEEN —TXE  FRAEE
FREMEELT -

Medium Risks at this level may have serious consequences, but they are less likely to occur. Conversely,
the consequences could be minor in nature, but the probability of occurrence is higher.

a2 LR BRI e EERR - EHRMAEMRE - Rz - TR EEEEM
BR - BERENRERS -

Low Risks at this level have limited harm and consequences for the Group to achieve its strategic
goals, and the probability of occurrence is low.

(/i HAMNNEBRE RN ERERHBEEBRNEETNEREGR - BEHOBEREE -

The Group’s Climate-related Risks identification 7 £ 8 ¥ R 1% 48 BE R B 9 38 B

A warming planet creates a wide range of risks for businesses, KB BEBRTREZRAR - BEHE
from disrupted supply chains to rising insurance costs to labour ~ #EHRETERBKA LA BEFEL T
challenges. With the increasing threat of climate change and the — [ - BEERBEE L LA EREEN
associated physical damage, change in market perception and shift ~ ENERBEBE - mIHEE e N A RE
in preference of the public towards more environmentally friendly ~ M EZF FIRFRHE D MRS @ 817 - &
products and services, the financial, reputational and strategic risk ~ B EBERFZ ERHZRL - £0 18
implications are becoming increasingly prominent. The risks derived REARR RS FT A R A [ R 48 5
from climate change will undoubtedly be of increasing concern to K AREE REETXAERTHRE
the Group and industry as a whole for the foreseeable future. The — 78 o AL B @A T 51 4 fE % Bl & 1% #8
Group has identified the climate-related risks and opportunities by 8 2 b S sl o

using the following matrix.
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Physical and Transition Risks: ERERRBERRE :

|
Climate-related

Risk Time Horizon Potential financial impacts Risk level
KRR AR AR R 2 €6 [ BEMBEE 2
Physical Risks
BERER
Extreme weather Short term and e From a broad perspective, the financial Low to Medium
Long term performance of the Group remains neutral

as typhoons are temporary. The vessel
chartering operations may be affected
by the typhoon, but special chartering
services offered by the Group and
demanded by customers, such as towage
services to any vessels/equipment at sea
or near the coast, are billed at a higher
rate.

e Crew members are exposed to greater

risk during times of a typhoon.
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Climate-related

Risk Time Horizon Potential financial impacts Risk level
KRR AR A KRR BENBEE BB & 4%
Transition Risks
BEAR

Tightening of Long term Tightened environmental policies increase the Low

climate-related cost of fulfilling such requirements. It might also

policies raise the operating costs, insurance costs and

penalties for noncompliance.

RIREBABR R 231 WEHIRBEBRIE N EZFRENRE - B K
IR REEE EBAA - REBAAIERFERE

Cost to transition Long term Facing the challenge of changing customers’ Low

to lower preferences and stricter environmental policies,

emissions the Group incurred significant repair and

technology maintenance costs for vessels to mitigate dark
smoke emissions and prolong their lifespan.
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B o
Changing Medium and A change in customer or user behaviour and Low
customer Long term preferences leads to a loss in customer and
behaviour income if there is a failure to meet stakeholders’
expectations on climate risk management and
goals.

EFTRAARES HHA K R HA WA MmERHEHRIERREEEHLE K
1 BFIAFTRERANEHEEHEF
R AEE -

Reputation Risk Long term The change in customer or user preferences Low
may increase the chance of receiving negative
stakeholder feedback about the existing
services. It may affect the reputation of the
Group.

BERR 231 FEFXAFPRAMNZEH ISR MBEHE K

ERBEEFNERBENESIEN - HAJBER
EXKEMBE -
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Measures to mitigate climate-related risks:

The Group is also aware of the causes of climate change and
strives to put its best efforts into mitigating emissions and
practising business sustainability to slow down the phenomenon.
The followings are the measures adopted by the Group:

e Safety remains a priority of the Group and is enforced with
special measures during the typhoon. Since crew members
are exposed to greater risk during times of a typhoon, the
company has communicated to its customers that their
policy states that services will be postponed if the weather is
considered a safety hazard for the Group’s staff. An example
of this includes a No. 8 typhoon signal, in which the Group
will suspend towage services and resume them only when
weather conditions are less risky.

e The Group strives to respond timely to the latest environmental
policies and advances energy-saving measures regularly.

Opportunities:

The Group believes that it is an opportunity to achieve a sustainable
marine industry with its continuous effort on environmental
protection in business operation with high efficiency of resource
recycling and emissions reduction.

Metrics and Targets

To measure the level and impact of the Group’s climate-related
risks, the Group monitors metrics and indicators to ensure an
effective and quantitative assessment. The Group monitors and
reviews its Scope 1, Scope 2, and Scope 3 GHG emissions (in
tCO2¢eq.), total GHG emissions (in tCO2eq.) and the GHG emission
intensity (in tCO2eq./m? and tCO2¢eq./million HKD revenue) regularly.
The GHG emission data and information about target setting are
shown in the section “A1. Emissions” of this report.
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B. SOCIAL

1. EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

B1. Employment

The Group had a total number of 234 employees as of 31 March
2024. All of the employees were from Hong Kong. The total
workforce sorted by employment types, gender, age group and
employee categories, is shown below.

DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYEES BY EMPLOYMENT TYPES DISTRIBUTION

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Group strictly complies with all applicable laws and regulations
in relation to employment and labour rights, including but not
limited to the following:

e Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57 of Law of Hong Kong;

e Employment of Children Regulations, Chapter 57B of Law of
Hong Kong;

e Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Chapter 480 of Law of Hong
Kong;

e Disability Discrimination Ordinance, Chapter 487 of Law of
Hong Kong;

e Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, Chapter 527 of Law
of Hong Kong;

e Race Discrimination Ordinance, Chapter 602 of Law of Hong
Kong;

e Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Chapter 486 of Law of
Hong Kong; and

e Minimum Wage Ordinance, Chapter 608 of Law of Hong
Kong.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not note any cases of
material non-compliance with employment laws and regulations in
relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity and anti-
discrimination.

The Group conveys its standards and expectations to all employees
(including office staff and crew members) through its Code of
Conduct and other relevant policies stipulated in the Employee
Handbook. The Employee Handbook is accessible to all employees,
which provides details on employment (e.g., recruitment, probation,
transfer, promotion, termination and retirement), work schedule
(e.g., hours of work, rest days, statutory holidays and early release),
remuneration, leaves, employee benefits, training, and other labour-
related policies.
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Competitive Compensation and Benefits Package

The Group treasures talents and regards them as the key to
driving the success of the Group. It recruits employees based
on candidates’ capabilities, performance and relevancies of their
experiences. On top of statutory holidays, employees are entitled
to annual leave, sick leave, compensation leave, maternity leave
and paternity leave according to the Employment Ordinance and
the Employee Handbook. The Group also provides a mandatory
provident fund, group insurance scheme and business travel
allowances for its employees.

Employee Relations

The Group maintains two-way communication with employees
through regular networking activities and feedback sessions.
Employees could raise concerns about possible malpractice
or improprieties directly to the Human Resources department.
Besides, the Group organised an annual dinner for all employees
and regular dinner gatherings to strengthen the bonds between the
management and office colleagues.

Equal Opportunity

The Group envisions a work environment free from discrimination.
As an equal opportunity employer, the Group emphasises a fair,
open, objective and non-discriminatory selection process in its
employee recruitment, job advancement, transferral, termination,
compensation and other business operation activities. Employees
are not discriminated against or deprived of such opportunities
based on gender, age, ethnicity, background, religion, colour,
marital status, family status, retirement, disability, pregnancy or
any other discrimination prohibited by the applicable laws and
regulations.

Appraisal System

A systematic appraisal system is developed to evaluate employees’
work performance and capabilities. The Group reviews employees’
salaries and discretionary bonuses together with their work
performance, labour supply and market demand. The annual
performance appraisal provides an opportunity for all staff
members to discuss career planning and identify areas of further
development with their managers.
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Turnover

The Group believes continual improvement of the employment
system is essential for long-term business growth. A total of 61
employees left the Group during the Reporting Period. The overall
turnover rate was 26.1%, which decreased by 0.2% compared
with the last reporting period.

The Group conducts exit interviews with resigned individuals to
understand the reasons behind employee turnover, enabling the
Group to address the concerns of existing employees to reduce the
turnover rate in the future and maintain continuity of performance of
the Group.

TURNOVER RATE BY EMPLOYMENT TYPES
REREREDHIRKE

18-25
18-255%

26-35
26-355%

Part-time II 22% 36-45
E3 . 36-45%%

46-55

MK E

AEERE HENESEREIEYAER
EXBREREHER - RBREHAHKE
BIRETBMASE ERRXER
26.1% * WM E—EREHTF0.2% °

AEBERDBTENEEETHRRE
HKUNTHRETHBNRRE  £AKE
REMBRIRAE THESE - URERE
ROBER R I (RIS N B RARERNL

TURNOVER RATE BY AGE GROUP (IN PERCENTAGE)
RERARBIDNRRE (BDLH)

I 80%
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I 50%
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46-555%
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28 I 56858 A
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TURNOVER RATE BY GENDER (IN PERCENTAGE)
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it I : 20%

rY ==
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TURNOVER RATE BY EMPLOYEE CATEGORIES
BETHERSZHRAE

Frontline and

Other Staff I 29%

ARREMET

Middle

Management |- 4%

RAREERE :

Senior

Management 0%

BREEE
Y =
A 5% 0%  15%  20%  25%  30%

Note: The turnover rate was calculated by (no. of employees leaving the company
during the Reporting Period/no. of employees as of 31 March 2024)*100%.
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B2. Employee Health and Safety

The safety and well-being of employees is the core concern of the
Group. As such, the Group complies with all applicable laws and
regulations in relation to occupational health and safety (‘OH&S”) in
Hong Kong, including but not limited to the followings:

In relation to the safety survey of local vessels

Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) Ordinance, Chapter 548 of
Law of Hong Kong;

Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) (Certification and Licensing)
Regulation, subsidiary legislation under Chapter 548 of Law of
Hong Kong; and

Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) (Safety and Survey)
Regulation, subsidiary legislation under Chapter 548 of Law of
Hong Kong.

In relation to OH&S operation

Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance, Chapter 59
of Law of Hong Kong;

Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance, Chapter 509 of
Law of Hong Kong;

Shipping and Port Control (Works) Regulation, Chapter 313X
of Law of Hong Kong;

Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) (Works) Regulation,
Chapter 548| of Law of Hong Kong;

Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) (Compulsory Third-Parties
Risks Insurance) Regulation, subsidiary legislation under
Chapter 548l of Law of Hong Kong;

Merchant Shipping (Safety) (Signals of Distress and Prevention
of Collisions) Regulations, subsidiary legislation under Chapter
369 of Law of Hong Kong;
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e Merchant Shipping (Safety) (Load Line) Regulations, subsidiary
legislation under Chapter 369 of Law of Hong Kong;

e Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, Chapter 282 of Law of
Hong Kong; and

e Dangerous Goods Ordinance, Chapter 295 of Law of Hong
Kong.

No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group in relation to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards had been identified during the Reporting Period.

In-office spaces, the Group ensures to conduct quarterly cleaning
of air conditioning systems and carpets. Also, purifiers are installed
and maintained regularly to ensure a clean and healthy environment
for all employees.

The Group has formulated internal policies and procedures for
improving health and safety on vessels and mitigating occupational
risks. Specifically, the Group has established a Code of Safe
Working Practices for its crew members (including officers
and engineers) and set out work safety rules in the Employee
Handbook. The Code outlines essential health and safety
information and an organisation chart showing the positions of
crew members of different levels with their responsibilities and
authorities in safety management on board each vessel. It guides
safe working practices for many situations that commonly arise on
ships, and detailed procedures covering various aspects, including
equipment safety, vessel maintenance, safe operating procedures,
emergency response and contingency plans. In addition, the Group
ensures that annual surveying of vessel conditions is conducted to
ensure that the condition is safe for crew members.
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Major measures set out in the Code of Safe Working Practices are
as follows:

u the Group requires its crew members to comply with the
Group’s safety instructions on vessel operation including the
procedures of vessel berthing and unberthing, and wearing
the necessary safety suit and protective equipment on board;

u the Group has established in-house emergency procedures
and fire precautions, such as evacuation procedures, location
of life-saving equipment and fire extinguishers in each of the
vessels and their operating instructions;

u the Group conducts regular safety training for its crew
members including fire safety drill training, sea safety drill
training and sea rescue simulator training to enhance the
safety awareness on board; and

= Crew members are strictly forbidden from alcohol, tobacco,
drugs, gambling and other high-risk activities while on duty
and upon boarding of vessels.

Regular safety surveys and inspections are conducted for the
Group’s vessel fleet to ensure the safety and seaworthiness of
vessels. The Group also provides regular OH&S-related training
to crew members and assesses the understanding of trained staff
based on the training content.

Work-related Fatality and Injury

During the Reporting Period, there were no work-related fatalities.
There were 2 work-related injuries with a total of 416 lost days
recorded. The concerned employees were provided with immediate
medical attention.
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T
OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY DATA OF THE RECENT 3 REPORTING PERIODS

BRA-EHEHAREREERZ2E

23/24 22/23 21/22
REPORTING PERIOD ¥R &5 Hp —=/-—mE =—=—/—=% =——/=—=
WORK-RELATED FATALITY E T HEil 0 0 0
WORK-RELATED FATALITY I TFR R
RATE 0% 0% 0%
WORK INJURY CASES >3 DAYS HREZN=HKIIS 2 1 1
WORK INJURY CASES <3 DAYS FiRB e
RZBNITE 0 1 3
LOST DAYS DUE TO WORK EITEmEXRNIIEXR
INJURY 416 7 14
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B3. Development and Training

The Group attaches great importance to employee development
and training. It believes that training does not only equip employees
with necessary knowledge and skills but also improves employee
perception, attitude and learning skills. During the Reporting
Period, the total training hours and the average training hours per
employee (inclusive of employees who have left the Group during
the Reporting Period) were 7,118 hours and 30.42 hours per
employee respectively.

Training Average

percentage training hours

by gender by gender

Qe by RUEBIB D

F Bl =k ANET

Male: B 99% 31.77 hours /N
Female: M 110% 21.20 hours /|\FF
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Training Average

percentage training hours

by employee grade by employee grade

RBREIH REBREADH

FI B Sa=h ANET

Frontline employees: AIARE T : 100% 32.06 hours /N
Middle management: PRERE : 31% 6.67 hours |\
Senior management: BRERE 100% 21.69 hours /J\EF
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The Group designs and arranges training programmes for its
employees according to their training needs and skills required
for daily business operations. Orientation training is provided for
all newcomers, wherein the Group communicates the policies,
rules and regulations of the Group to them. On-the-job training
is provided for existing employees, which generally falls into the
following categories: work safety, fire safety, occupational health,
first aid skill, environmental protection, operation of equipment and
work procedures. Emergency response training assures employees’
prompt responses in the event of safety incidents and other
emergencies (e.g. fire, collision and cargo falling). These training
programmes are designed to strengthen employees’ knowledge,
and competency, and improve their productivity and effectiveness
which eventually improve their workplace performance.

Crew members from the engineering department and deck
department are required to attend recognised maritime courses
and in-service training covering topics of onboard maintenance
of machinery and electrical appliances, vessel navigation and
cargo handling. Qualified crew members are eligible to serve in the
positions in the vessels and meet customers’ requirements for the
rendering of services at particular sites. The Group encourages
the crew member to obtain the relevant engineering and coxswain
licenses issued by Marine Department, and wages will be
reviewed and adjusted when licences are obtained. Employees
in management positions or above are subject to corporate
management training to understand their obligations and legal
responsibilities in the Group.

B4. Labour Standards

The employment of forced or child labour is strictly prohibited in all
the Group’s operations. To prevent the employment of child labour,
new employees are required to provide identification documents
for age verification, ensuring that they are legally entitled to work for
the Group or otherwise employment contract is not entered. The
Human Resource Department conducts reference checks for new
employees to ensure compliance with the Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). All employees of the Group
have signed and agreed on the terms laid out in the employment
contracts. If a violation of the law is discovered, immediate action in
terminating the enrolment will be taken. There was no child labour
nor forced labour in the Group’s operation, and no material non-
compliance in relation to the prevention of child and forced labour
was recorded during the Reporting Period.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

The Group has developed policies and systems to manage qualified
suppliers and evaluate potential suppliers. According to the supplier
evaluation system, the Group conducts a thorough background
check of all suppliers and sub-contractors before entering and
agreeing to contracts. The approved suppliers are reviewed yearly
against their performance, quality of product and service, price and
product responsibility.

The suppliers and subcontractors are required to provide and
update the vessels with proper licences and permits, which
indicates compliance with the relevant environmental protection
laws and the requirements by the Marine Department as
inspected by chartered surveyors. The Group strives to promote
environmentally preferable services when selecting the suppliers
and subcontractors.

The Group arranged site visits to observe the operations of the
suppliers to identify its risks and violations to the environment
and social aspects, including policies, pollutant emissions, use
of resources, employee welfare, health and safety and training,
to ensure the suppliers are complying with the relevant rules and
regulations. Besides, the Group requires its third-party suppliers
to provide vessel inspection reports and employees’ insurance
policies before entering into business with them.

During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged a total of 371
suppliers, most of which were in Hong Kong. The Group’s suppliers
and sub-contractors primarily provided repair and maintenance
services, vessel chartering services, crews and shipyards.
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B6. Service Responsibility

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not note any cases
of material non-compliance in relation to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided as required by related laws and regulations.

The Group strives to provide promising and quality products and
services. To assure vessel safety and quality, annual inspections
are performed by chartered surveyors and the operation licenses
are renewed regularly. The crew members have attained relevant
licenses to meet customers’ requirements for the rendering of
services at sites.

Intellectual Property (‘IP’] Rights

The Group strives to manage its IPs and strictly upholds the
Copyright Ordinance, Chapter 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong. As
of the Reporting Period, the Group have registered 2 trademarks
of “Yun Lee” which is protected under Section 47(3) of the
Trademarks Ordinance, Chapter 559 of the Laws of Hong Kong.
No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to IP
rights was noted during the Reporting Period.

Confidential Information

The Group pays great attention to protecting confidential
information and strictly upholds the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance in daily business operations. Resigned staff are required
to sign the confidentiality agreement, for agreeing not to disclose
the Group’s trade secrets and related confidential information.
The Employee Handbook clearly states that staff are prohibited
from disclosing or making copies of any confidential information
without the authorisation of the Group. In the event of a breach,
such violation is considered serious misconduct at the workplace
and the considered employee is subject to disciplinary action or
immediate dismissal. During the Reporting Period, there was no
complaint received.
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Customer Service

The Group is committed to providing quality customer services.
A dedicated 24-hour direct hotline is set up for providing prompt
support services on ship arrangements. The supporting team
handles complaints/enquiries and assists promptly. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not receive a service-related
complaint.

B7. Anti-corruption

The Group adopts policies on anti-bribery and corruption which
are strictly enforced in accordance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and prohibits
employees from solicitation, acceptance of or offering any
‘advantage’ (gifts, loan, fee, reward, commission, office, contract,
service, favour or the discharge of any liability) without lawful
authority and the express permission of the employer.

Employees are required to adhere to the requirements of the
Conflict of Interest Policy established by the Group. An employee
who has a close relationship with suppliers or customers shall
declare all interests by submitting the written form to the Group.
The case will be addressed in guarding against possible illicit
enrichment or conflicts of interests. For any suspected fraud, the
internal department shall report to the management level within
two working days and conduct corresponding investigations. The
identity of the whistle-blower is kept confidential and will be well
informed when disclosure is required.

To strengthen the employees’ understanding of the concept of
anti-corruption, the Group has shared the training resources of
ICAC with all the staff and directors, so that the staff can be more
familiar with the concepts of business ethics, and the importance of
integrity in the working environment.

During the Reporting Period, there was no concluded legal case
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or its
employees. The Group did not note any cases of non-compliance
with laws and regulations on money laundering or corruption.
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B8. Community Investment

The Group cares for the community and actively engages in
various voluntary services. Although the Group has not formulated
a community engagement policy, it accomplishes its social
responsibility by addressing the needs of the local community.
During the Reporting Period, the Group focused on manpower
nurturing and made contributions by both financial and non-
financial means. The Group will continue to devote efforts to the
community in the coming years.

Educational Contributions

The Group is committed to cultivating young talents for the maritime
industry. During the Reporting Period, the Group sponsored 4
scholarships for talented students and was invited to give lectures
at the Maritime Services Training Institute of Vocational Training
Council.

Donations and Volunteering

The Group made charitable donations to various charitable
organisations to support the underprivileged and those who are
vulnerable in Hong Kong. The following is the detail of donations
made during the Reporting Period.
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|
Donations made

by the Group
Organisation g KEBATERR
Maritime Services Training Institute HEIBRERT HKD 20,000
20,0008 7T
Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education BEBEINERR HKD 20,000
20,0008 7T
Yau Tsim Mong Love & Care Charity MAHEEBLEEESBR AT HKD 120,000
Foundation Limited 120,000 % 7T
Luen Yip Hop Lik Tong Charity Foundation Ltd. GWEANEREESBRAA HKD 10,000
10,0007 7T
Mr & Mrs Lee Shu Fook Charity Foundation Limited ~ Z#t@iBE=E S AR A A HKD 3,000
3,000/ 7T
Yuen Shing Tong Association Company Limited THEEEREBRAA HKD 30,000
30,0008 7T
Education and Technology Limited- Charity MBHERBBERAR — HKD 10,000
Reading Sponsorship Programme N BIEE TS 10,0007 7T
(Charity Reading

Sponsorship Programme)
Special Olympics Hong Kong EARNHRES HKD 5,000
5,000 7T
Unity Chest Fund Limited DA AHESEERAT HKD 30,000
30,0008 7T
The Hong Kong Sea School BEMEER HKD 50,000
50,0008 7T
HKCPPCC (Provincial) Members Association BERERBRHEZEHES HKD 10,000
Foundation-Earthquake Disaster Relief in Gansu BRAR —HEmmER L 10,0007 7T
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

In preparation for the Listing, the Group underwent the
reorganisation, details of the reorganisation are set out in the
Company’s prospectus dated 4 March 2019 (the “Prospectus”).

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with effect from 18 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Company’s subsidiaries are principally involved in provision of (i)
vessel chartering and related services; (i) ship management; and (jii)
marine construction services.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the
financial positions of the Company and of the Group as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to
209 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary share in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK 1.8 cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024, comprising the discussion of business prospects, is set out
in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 17
of this annual report and the cross-referenced part of the annual
report forms part of the directors’ report. The Group committed
to enhancing governance, promoting employee benefits and
development, protecting the environment and giving back to
society in order to fulfill social responsibility and achieve sustainable
growth.
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POSSIBLE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING THE COMPANY

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, businesses
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties
which are not known to the Group or which may not be material
now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

There are certain risks involved in the Group’s business operations,
many of which are beyond the Group’s control, these risks may
limit the Group’s ability to execute its strategies successfully. The
Directors believe that the following are some major risks that may
have a material adverse impact on the Group, namely (i) most of
the Group’s revenue is derived from non-recurring contracts, failure
to obtain new contracts may affect the Group’s sustainability and
financial performance; (ii) failure to retain qualified personnel to
operate the Group’s vessel fleet may adversely affect the Group’s
business operations and financial performance; (iii) the Group or the
owners of the Group’s chartered vessels may not be able to renew
or maintain the Operating Licences of the Group’s vessel fleet; and
(iv) the Group’s ability to compete for vessel chartering contracts
largely depends on the availability of vessels and there is no
guarantee that the Group will be able to renew the charterparties
with the owners of the Group’s chartered vessels. The Group’s
liquidity position may be adversely affected if the progress payment
or the retention money is not paid or released to the Group on
time or in full; or the construction project cash flows are fluctuated.
To monitor the pressure of financial liquidity, the Group reviews
aging analysis on regular basis and closely communicates with
management of the customers so as to get a better understanding
of their solvency status.

Financial Risk

The financial risk management of the Group are set out in note
33(b) to the consolidated financial statements and the cross-
referenced part of the annual report forms part of the directors’
report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION POLICY

The Group has strong commitment towards environmental
protection and is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. Compliance procedures are in place to ensure
adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations. During the year
ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Group did not incur any significant cost in relation to environmental
protection or have any material environmental-related incident,
and the Group had not been penalised by competent government
authority for environmental-related violations.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board believes the compliance with laws and regulations as the
cornerstone of a business and attaches considerable importance to
it. To the best knowledge of the Board, during the year ended 31
March 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the Group has
complied with relevant laws and regulations that have significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group. Further, any
changes in applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the
attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units from
time to time.

RELATIONS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Board recognises that our employees are valuable assets
contributing to the Group’s future success. The Group provides
competitive remuneration package to attract, motivate and retain
our employees. The Board also regularly reviews the remuneration
package of our employees and makes necessary adjustments
to conform to the prevailing market practices. The Board also
treasures that maintaining good relationship with our customers
and suppliers is vital to achieve the Group’s long-term goals. During
the year, there was no significant dispute between the Group
companies and our business partners.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and equity
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
the published audited consolidated financial statements, is set
out on page 210. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the group during the year ended 31
March 2024 amounted to HK$318,000 (2023: HK$110,000).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the applicable laws of
the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association, amounted to
HK$29,509,000 (2023: HK$52,264,000).

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 101 of this
annual report and note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
on pages 208 to 209 of this annual report, respectively.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy (chairman and chief executive officer)
Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Chan Hei Ting
Ms. Hong Ting
Mr. Ng Simon
(appointed on 12 May 2023)

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting.

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association, all
the Directors, namely, Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, Ms. Chan Sau Ling
Amy, Ms. Chan Hei Ting, Ms. Hong Ting and Mr. Ng Simon will
offer himself/herself for re-election as an executive/independent
non-executive Director (as the case may be).

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management”.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent nonexecutive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company, and each of the independent non-
executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the
Company, for a term of three years commencing from 18 March
2022. The letters of appointment are subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance “SFQO”)) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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Long positions in shares of the Cumpanx RAEQBRBZIFR

Number of  Percentage of
shares shareholding
Name of Director Nature of interest interested interest
FisE R EERER
EEnE EEME R B E Bak
Wen Tsz Kit Bondy Interest in controlled corporation and 558,858,750 55.89%
interest of spouse (Notes 1 and 2)

BT XA R M EEs (M1 k2)

Chan Sau Ling Amy Interest in controlled corporation and 558,858,750 55.89%

interest of spouse (Notes 1 and 2)

AR

YA E s MAC B (1 & 2)
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Notes:

(1) These 558,858,750 Shares are held by Kitling (BVI). The entire issued share
capital of Kitling (BVI) is owned by Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy (‘“Mr. Wen”) and
by Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy (“Ms. Chan”) as to 70% and 30% respectively.
Each of Mr. Wen and Ms. Chan will therefore be deemed interested in the
558,858,750 shares held by Kitling (BVI) as interest in controlled corporation.

2 Since Mr. Wen and Ms. Chan are married to each other, Mr. Wen will be
deemed interested in the shares which Ms. Chan is deemed interested in as
interest of spouse, and vice versa.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, there were no
other interests or short positions of the Directors of the Company
in the shares or underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) or pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, required to be
recorded in the register or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the following persons/entities (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or
short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were
as follows:
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Long positions in shares of the Companx RADBRBZFR

Number of  Percentage of
shares shareholding
Name Nature of interest interested interest
FriSE R 1% B
rE EH Mt REBE ERa
Kitling Investments Beneficial owner 558,858,750 55.89%
(BVI) Limited EmBEAA
Wen Tsz Kit Bondy Interest in controlled corporation and 558,858,750 55.89%
interest of spouse (Note 1)
o Ry EEE R R EER (1)
Chan Sau Ling Amy Interest in controlled corporation and 558,858,750 55.89%
interest of spouse (Note 1)
BRAEI Ry EEE R R B ER (1)
Novel Choice Ventures Beneficial owner 50,000,000 5.0%
Limited
MEZEIRAER AR EnEBA
Tang Yiu Chi James Interest in controlled corporation (Note 2) 50,000,000 5.0%

TR Xy LE s (M 2)

Notes:

(1) The share capital of Kitling (BVI) is beneficially owned by Mr. Wen and Ms.
Chan as to 70% and 30%, respectively.

) The entire share capital of Novel Choice Ventures Limited is owned by Mr.
Tang Yiu Chi James.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Company has
not been notified by any persons/entities (other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company) who held an interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) on 20 September 2018. The Share
Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) have had or may have made to
the Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company with the view to achieving the following objectives: (i)
motivating the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and (ii) attracting and
retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going business relationships
with the Eligible Participants whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Directors may, at their
absolute discretion, offer to grant an option to subscribe for the
shares subject to such conditions (including, without limitation, any
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised and/or any performance targets which must be achieved
before an option can be exercised) as they may think fit, to the
following persons (the “Eligible Participants”): (a) any full-time or
part-time employees, executives or officers of the Company; (b) any
director (including executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (c)
any advisers, consultants, service providers, customers and agents
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (d) such other
persons who, in the sole opinion of the Directors, will contribute or
have contributed to the Group. An option shall have been accepted
by an Eligible Participant within 21 days from the date of the offer
of grant of the option. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on
acceptance of the offer of grant of an option.
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company) to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
100,000,000 shares, being 10% of the shares in issue as at the
Listing Date. No share options had been granted by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme up to the date of this report.
Therefore, the number of shares available for issue is 100,000,000
shares, being approximately 10% of the shares in issue as at the
date of this report. The total number of shares issued and which
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company (including both exercised and outstanding options)
to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being. Any
further grant of options in excess of the 1% limit shall be subject
to shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such participant
and his associates abstaining from voting.

The subscription price per share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Directors, but shall not be less
than the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
offer for the grant, which must be a Business day; (b) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five Business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

Unless there is an early termination of the Share Option Scheme
pursuant to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, the Share
Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years after the
date on which the Share Option Scheme is adopted. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the
Directors in their absolute discretion, save that no option shall be
exercised later than 10 years from the date of grant.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, there were no equity-linked agreements entered
into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 March
2024.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

None of the related party transactions set out in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements constitutes “Continuing
Connected Transactions” in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The Directors confirm that the Group’s related party transactions
as connected transactions were exempt from all disclosure
requirements, annual review and independent shareholder’s
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as those disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with him/her
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2024 or at any time during the
year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2024.

COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of the
Company (has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing
Rules and, in the context of the Company, means collectively Mr.
Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy and Kitling Investment
(BVI) Limited) and their respective close associates had any
interests in any business, apart from the business of the Group,
which competes or likely to compete (either directly or indirectly)
with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

B AE RS
AEERBE_Z_WE=A=+—H
EFEFU BB AR S EENEGRE
SR MEEST -

BEFTHRANE VAT BEINEGS
BA TS R I A1 31 B BB 00 X BB A+

EXEER AREFABEER B
IRPEHRRET ETHRBFE14ATE
THRBERERE  FEEHMELR
RELERTE -

AARERED BT EFMBEAE14AE
ETHEERE -

EEREAXRS THIHAHNRE
2=
BREEMBHRERWEIIAMBEESIN
EEYHABEEBHMERNERARNE
T BARGZEREBEE T - MF
ZAC+ - ALFEFERRFREM
REDAERNEMRS - THHELD
b BERESEEBEEEAES

BEEEHN
RBE-_FT_NF=ZA=1+—HBLLF
B AAAFRBRBAEMNERRGHER
77 E I AT SN AR R B I R 1T
BH o

BPER
HE_Z-_MF=A=1t—HILEFEK
BEEARERH  HEARGESHAR
AElERAR R (BRA W R AT T 80%
x MRAARRME - BB FEHEE -
PR % & Z2 - K& Kitling Investment (BVI)
Limited M) 4518 ) R R EE BN ERBE
ARBEARE B ZEBBKEF A B
FHFER(EEIEZ)NEMEB(RERE
BERON PR B (e o

Annual Report 2024 %

85



86

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Non-Competition Undertaking by Controlling Shareholders

The controlling shareholders of the Company had entered into a
deed of non-competition in favour of the Company (for itself and as
trustee for each of its subsidiaries, Eastlink Marine Services Limited
and Scenic Shipping Company Limited) on 20 September 2018
(the “Deed of Non-Competition”), details of which are set out
in section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders
— Deed of Non-competition” in the Prospectus. The controlling
shareholders of the Company have confirmed to the Company of
their compliance with all the undertakings provided to the Company
under the Deed of Non-Competition.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets or profits of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Company since the Listing Date.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group was set
up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The emolument of the Directors
are reviewed and recommended by the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to eligible persons, details are set out under the heading “Share
Option Scheme” in this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where
the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief of taxation available to the
Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Shares of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at
the date of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, (i) the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers accounted for approximately
23.0% and 67.5% respectively of the Group’s total revenue; and
(i) the Group’s largest supplier and five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 5.6% and 14.2% respectively of the Group’s
total cost of sales (not including purchases of items which are of a
capital nature).

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders who owned more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital had any interest in the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and is satisfied that the Company has been in compliance
with code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2024 and up
to the date of this report.

Details of corporate governance report are set out on pages 24 to
41 of this annual report.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 18 March 2019. Net proceeds from the
Listing (after deducting underwriting fee and relevant expenses
payable by the Group in connection with the Listing) amounted
to approximately HK$65.6 million. As at 31 March 2024, a total
amount of HK$43.6 million out of the net proceeds had been used
by the Group according to the allocation set out in the Company’s
announcement of offer price and allotment results dated 15 March
2019. As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s planned application and
actual utilisation of the net proceeds is set out below:

LS RERERE
ARRERZZ-NF=A+/\BEHRZ
PREMRMRIN LT o EMAISSURFERE (1
BEIHER R AEE L BT REMHER
X&) HR65.6B8ETT - R _T_MF
ZA=1t—8 XEERBEARRBHGS
“E-NFZATHENBEERREE
RAEMH 2R EREHAEH436B8
BITHMBFIRFE - N _T-_F=A
=t+—8  AEREZFAEFRFERER
w R BRI

Utilisation of Remaining Expected
net proceeds balance of timetable
during the Utilised the net of full
Planned vyear ended net proceeds proceeds utilisation
use of 31 March as at 31 as at 31 of the
net proceeds 2024 March 2024 March 2024 balance
BZE
—E-lmF
ZA=t—H R=Z2-OF R-ZT-NF
Lt¥E =ZA=+—H =ZA=+—H BREEEH
RS RIEFHE BAME CBAMSE RS RE BAN
BERZ MIEEHE IR FHRE FHRER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 Year
FHT T FHT FHT R
Acquiring vessels 43,625 — 43,625 — -
W BB AR A
Setting up a shipyard in Hong Kong
(Note) 22,000 - - 22,000 2025
REEZRIMIE (K7aE)
65,625 - 43,625 22,000
Note:  Although the Group has endeavoured to adhere to the implementation plan Wi : BEAEERNERBRNRARAGAHA=T

for the use of proceeds as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 4 March 2019 (the “Prospectus”) by submitting tenders to rent two
parcels of lands for shipyard sites in late December 2018, the Group was
not awarded any tenancy from the Government for the tendered parcel of
land. The Group would continue to exploit opportunities to rent a suitable
site for a shipyard. The Directors expect the remaining net proceeds will be
fully utilised in 2025.

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JEF/§ =& B2k ER AR

—NFE=ZANBEMNBEREER(ERER])
PR BRI MG FIRMEERTE - YR
T N\F+ZAERBEEMBEMRIS TR
REBE EAEEREBFRHENE
BRELHANED - AEBBEBEGS
KEEHESB LR IMIE - EFEHEF
PSS SFHAEMEN T _AFEHD
A e



CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from 22 August 2024 to 27
August 2024, both days inclusive. During this period, no transfer
of shares will be registered. Shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on 27 August 2024
are entitled to attend the forthcoming annual general meeting
scheduled on 27 August 2024. In order to qualify for the right to
vote for and/or attend the forthcoming annual general meeting, all
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 21 August 2024.

The proposed final dividend is subject to the passing of an ordinary
resolution by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. For determining the entitlement to the proposed final
dividend, the register of members will be closed for one day on
5 September 2024, during that day no transfer of shares will
be effected. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 4 September 2024.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wen Tsz Kit Bondy

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited
Chairrman

Hong Kong
27 June 2024
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TO THE MEMBERS OF YUN LEE MARINE GROUP HOLDINGS
LIMITED
EASEREZRERATF

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yun Lee
Marine Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 97 to 209,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets

We identified impairment assessment of trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter
due to the significance of trade receivables and
contract assets to the Group’s consolidated financial
position and the involvement of subjective judgement
and management estimates in evaluating the expected
credit losses (“ECL”) of the Group’s trade receivables
and contract assets at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s trade receivables
and contract assets amounting to HK$61,346,000
and HK$52,192,000, respectively, which represented
approximately 13.8% and 11.8% of the total assets
of the Group and out of these trade receivables of
approximately HK$36,121,000 were past due. As
explained in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, HK$1,501,000 reversal of credit loss was
recognised.

As disclosed in Notes 4, 20, 21 and 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, trade receivables
and contract assets are assessed individually for
significant trade debtors and collectively for remaining
trade debtors for impairment allowance based on the
historical credit losses experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors and the forward-
looking information at the end of each reporting
period.

Details of the ECL are set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of trade receivables and contract assets included:

e  Understanding how the management estimates
ECL allowance for trade receivables and
contract assets;

e Testing the integrity of information used by
management for impairment assessment;

e Challenging management’s basis and
judgement in determining credit loss allowance
on trade receivables and contract assets as at
31 March 2024, including the reasonableness
of management’s assessment on the internal
credit rating of the trade debtors and the basis
of estimated loss rate and forward-looking rate
information; and

e Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets in Notes 4, 20, 21 and 33
to the consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Yeung Pik Fung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
27 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeRmkHEMEEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_WE=A=+—HIFE

2024 2023

B =E —EB-mE —B-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FExT
Revenue Wz 5 334,604 239,876
Cost of revenue I ER A AN (245,194) (154,424)
Gross profit EF 89,410 85,452
Other income E A 6 2,667 4,734
Other gains and losses, net Hablas & B8 F5E 7 11,203 (534)
Impairment loss under ECL EHEEBEEXETH
model, net of reversal BEEE - HRBER SR 8 311 3,863
Administrative expenses ITBRS (68,413) (43,338)
Finance costs BhE KA 9 (824) (60)
Share of results of associates DI E N RS 277 (1,047)
Profit before taxation B A5 A1 A 34,631 49,070
Income tax expenses FSRim 2 10 (5,095) (7,615)
Profit for the year FEm A 11 29,536 41,455
Profit (loss) for the year IATATEEFERN(EE):
attributable to:
— owners of the Company S YNEIE 2= PN 31,584 36,011
- non-controlling interests — IRV RE S (2,048) 5,444
29,536 41,455
Earnings per share - Basic BREFN —EX
(HK cents) () 14 3.16 3.60
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CONSOLIDATED STAFEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEEEREMEE KSR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023

G =l 111 - 3 —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000

FE& T FHBT

Profit for the year FE R A 29,536 41,455
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEENES

for the year
ltems that may be HeBgTresHmotE

reclassified to profit or loss EEEMIER -

in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on BMEBINEBFTEE

the translation of 2 FEH ZRE

foreign operations 1 -
Total comprehensive income KEEEHKN =L

for the year 29,537 41,455
Total comprehensive income INTATEEREE

(expense) for the year 2R (R BT

attributable to

— owners of the Company . VNEIEZ 2PN 31,585 36,011

— non-controlling interests — IR (2,048) 5,444

29,537 41,455

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited f8F/&%E £ EiER AR A A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NOTES
B et

kel - 3

e AR

At 31 March 2024
R-E-_mMFE=A=+—H

2024 2023
—m— =

—_— =

HK$’000
TR

HK$’000
TR

Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WE MR 15 126,707 124,943
Right-of-use assets FRREEE 16 11,518 3,997
Interests in associates REFE R R R 17 3,434 3,997
Other non-current asset HEM3ERBEE 18 3,100 3,100
Goodwill EES 19 25,400 —
Intangible asset mEEE 19 8,491 -
Financial asset at fair EAFERABE
value through profit or loss REREE 19 2,628 -
Rental deposits HEZe 20 457 238
Deposit for acquisition of additional ~ Ux BB B & /2 &) 58 SRS AE
equity interest in an associate ZE® 20 - 5,950
Deferred tax assets BETIEE E 22 1,320 1,272
183,055 143,497
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 REAMEWFRIE 20 71,380 50,890
Contract assets EHEE 21 52,192 -
Amount due from an associate JE U — RTS8 B SR I8 26 10 —
Tax recoverable AT Y (3] 75 18 1,534 2,249
Time deposits TE HATE 3K 23 58,134 75,702
Cash and cash equivalents RekRSEEY 23 76,577 67,714
259,827 196,555
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H M ER IR 24 56,102 32,195
Promissory note payable JE A H R 25 12,422 —
Amounts due to associates B & A B FRIE 26 - 316
Amounts due to non-controlling JE A<} B /B 12 B FEFE AR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries FRIA 26 42,088 4,900
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EMER 27 8,296 -
Lease liabilities HEBRE 28 5,256 898
Tax payables FETHRIR 7,358 261
131,522 38,570
Net current assets REBEERE 128,305 157,985
Total assets less current liabilities #ZERTEE & 311,360 301,482
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CONSOLIDATED STATEVIENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RS AR =

At 31 March 2024
R-ZE-_W&E=A=+—H

2024 2023
B EE ikl —2-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000

TET THET

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBERK 27 199 —
Lease liabilities HEas 28 6,504 3,117
Deferred tax liabilities EETIEBE 22 15,413 14,163
22,116 17,280
Net assets BEFE 289,244 284,202
Capital and reserves EXRFHE
Share capital N 29 10,000 10,000
Reserves i) 254,973 241,388
Equity attributable to owners KAaHEA ARG
of the Company 264,973 251,388
Non-controlling interests e AR R A 24,271 32,814
Total equity AR 289,244 284,202

The consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to 209 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27
June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

FOTE200EMGAMBHRERE
THENAZ+HHBEEESTEH ALK
BHE THTIWATRRESTS R
%:

Wen Tsz Kit Bondy
DIRECTOR

Chan Sau Ling Amy
DIRECTOR

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE 7525 £ Bk AR AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MF=A=+—HIFE

n‘l'.R

Attributable to owners of the Company

KLREEARE
Non-
Share Share  Merger Other ~ Capital Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reseve  reserve  reseve  reserve  profils Total  interests equity
Bx  REGE SR BEE  EAEE  ASRE  REEA 88 FehEE  RROE
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TEn T TR TAr  TEn  TEr  TRn T TEr TEn
(Notea) ~ (Noteb)  (Notec)
(Wita)  (MWitb) (W)
At 1 Aol 2022 N-E--EMA-A 1000 133728 (63400 9830 17134 - 18091 237 B2 270,586
Proft and total comprehensive etk
income for the year = = = = = - %o oM bdd 41456
Dividends paic (Note 13 BRREIE 1) = = = = = = {20000 (0,000 - (20,000
Dhidends peid to BRERERRS
non-controling inferests = = = = = = = = (7839 (1839
At 31 March 2023 and 1 Apri 2023 N-B-=F=R=1-AR
ZECCEmA-A 10000 133,728  (63,406) 9830 17134 - 144102 251388 32814 284202
Proft and total comprehensive EERTRzANALE
income for the year - - - - - 1 3584 358 (2048 29537
Dividends paic (Note 13 Bfka () = = = = = - (18000) (18,000 - (18,000)
Dhidends peid to EAEERERRS
non-controling inferests - - - - - - - - (49000 (4,900

Acouiston of subsidares Note 19)  WEMBAT (FH19) - - - - - - - - (t600) (1,600

Investment n a subsidiary i )7 TE@E - - - - = = = - 5 5

At 31 March 2024 N-B-RE=A=1-A 10000 133728  (63,406) 9830 17134 1 157686 264973 4211 289,244

Notes: BiRE -

(@  Merger reserve mainly represents the difference between the total equity of (8 EHEEZZEEBRBEEE-_T—NLF=A
Yun Lee Marine Holdings (BVI) Limited (“Yun Lee (BVI)”) acquired and the =+t—HILEFENEHEMEBMNEEER
nominal value of share capital of the entities pursuant to the reorganisation (ABHRRHES)ARAR(EA(EE&
during the year ended 31 March 2019. RRES) DNEREERZETEENREN

EEZENESE -

()  Amounts represent (i) the difference between the changes in share of net asset by SBEEHRBEFE  FERBRESE—MH
of a subsidiary by the non-controlling shareholders and the capital injection by WEARKEEFES S EIFTRBRRAE
non-controlling shareholders upon completion of share allotment in prior year; EWRHTERETE ZENZEE  (i)BEF(E
(ii) the difference between the par value of the allotted shares of Yun Lee (BVI) BHEBRHE ) ERERMOEELEBREEZE
and the fair value of equity interest in Eastlink Marine Services Limited (“Eastlink ZE-NAF=ZA=Z+—BLEFENEALRE
Marine”), an associate of the Group, pursuant to the reorganisation during EHEAREMNEERFERIANTEMNE
the year ended 31 March 2019 and (iii) the difference between the amount by FBRAERATFEZEHZERE 0 K (i) AR
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid RAIRORZZ—NF=A+N\BREAH
arising from acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries by the Group ARGHMBRATER EM( LT - #
when shares of the Company had been listed on the Main Board of The Stock ERERARCEAANEERKBEREA
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18 March 2019 (the “Listing”). BIMERFTEABENREZBRNEE -

(c) Amounts represent (i) the portion of issue cost in relation to the Listing borne (c) £ 2880 () B Kitling Investments (BVI) Limited

by Kitling Investments (BVI) Limited (“Kitling (BVI)”) and (i) the waiver of an
amount of HK$12,500,000 advanced from Kitling (BVI) upon completion of the
Listing.

([Kitling (BVI) )& EH A LM AR TRZ
25 R (i) £ FEAK 18 #A % 2R B Kitling(BVI) &
212,500,000 B TTHIEFR -

Annual Report 2024 %

101



102

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

R DLk A = AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_WME=F=+—HItFE

2024
—ZE-NEF
HK$’000
FBT

2023
—E-=F

HK$’000
FHET

Operating activities BT E
Profit before taxation B 35 Bl g A 34,631 49,070
Adjustments for: AT EIBELAE
Depreciation of property, Y - BEMEETE
plant and equipment 11,691 8,116
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRREENE 5,424 1,994
Amortisation charge of intangible asset B EEEIEER 2,830 —
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEK
plant and equipment XEEBE 21 539
Impairment loss reversed EHEEBEEXNET
under expected credit loss model EopAIET =t e (311) (3,863)
Interest income from banks RITH B U A (1,870) (1,135)
Share of results of associates DL E N RS (277) 1,047
Finance costs A& AR 824 60
Gain on deemed disposal of equity RIEH & —fEE & Q7]
interest of an associate (note 19) AR WS (FFEE19) (11,900) —
Fair value change of financial asset at fair BAFERAER
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) (MEAFEFAER]DA
TREENLTEEY 406 —
Exchange losses b H 518 272 —
Operating cash flows before movements LEECHHHLERIRE
in working capital 41,741 55,828
Change in contract assets BRHEESR (12,293) —
Decrease in trade and B 5 K& H At fE W IR
other receivables B 3,562 86,662
Decrease in trade and B 5 REMERFKIE
other payables N (20,660) (14,658)
Decrease (increase) in amounts FET B & A | sRIER A (38 n)
due to associates (326) 2
Cash generated from operations KEMSHEE 12,024 127,834
Income tax refunded EIREIFTEH - 295
Income tax paid B (1,414) (8,829)
Net cash from operating activities RETHMBRESFERE 10,610 119,300

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited f8F/&%E £ EiER AR A A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n-ZI' =] iﬁa%l}lhgﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

2024
—E-NF
HK$’000
FBT

2023
—E-=F

HK$’000
FHET

Investing activities REEH
Withdrawal of time deposits REUEHITTE R 43,706 70,149
Placement of time deposits FAEBFR (26,410) (137,794)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB E W% - BiE L& E (2,748) (25,966)
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWE - BEMKE

plant and equipment FriS 338 17 2,550
Dividends received from an associate B E R FRE 840 800
Deposit paid for acquisition of an associate & Ut BEEE & A FlIR & - (5,950)
Interest received from banks BRI TR R 1,870 1,135
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BB HI B A A 814 —
Investment in a subsidiary R—REHBARRRE 5 —
Net cash from (used in) RETEFREB (A REFE

investing activities 18,094 (95,076)
Financing activities REEE
Dividends paid BEEE (18,000) (20,000)
Dividends paid to BT I AR i 2 AR

non-controlling interests (4,900) (7,839)
Repayment for lease liabilities HEAEENXK (4,807) (2,004)
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EERITEREMER (1,027) -
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENHERENE (502) (60)
Interest paid on bank and other borrowing 2 R1T R E M E T E (322) —
Advance from an associate B RN RIBN - 39
Advance from non-controlling B /B~ R FEIE AR AR SR EA 5K

shareholders of subsidiaries 9,717 =
Net cash used in financing activities BMETEBMARESFE (19,841) (29,864)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and HeERREEEY

cash equivalents BMORD) FEE 8,863 (5,640)
Cash and cash equivalents at FOESRESEEY

beginning of the year 67,714 73,354
Cash and cash equivalents FERRERESEEY -

at end of the year,

represented by cash and cash equivalents 2% A28 4 MRS EED 76,577 67,714
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
w3 00 1% ¥ 2% By 5

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_NMF=A=+—HLFE

104

GENERAL INFORMATION

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and registered as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands. Its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate and ultimate holding company
is Kitling (BVI). The ultimate controlling shareholders of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are Mr. Wen Tsz
Kit Bondy (“Mr. Wen”) and Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy (“Ms.
Chan”), the spouse of Mr. Wen (collectively as “the Controlling
Shareholders”). The address of the registered office of the
Company is 89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand Cayman,
KY1-9009, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of
the Company is Flat D, 31/F., Billion Plaza Il, 10 Cheung Yue
Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 35.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 April 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:
HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts
2020 and February 2022

Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax
Reform-Pillar Two
model Rules

Disclosure of

Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

2.

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

ERKEITEEMITHREER
(TEEBHHREAEL )
AFEEFIERBMET REEETE
e RS 2R

RAFEHRE AEECEXER
THEEGAMAS([FEGFE
RENRAMOHETREEBITER
MBREED  ARAEER-F
“=FNA—-BRENFEHHER
B - ARREAR A M ]mEK

BEMBHREAER  RERER
FA7THR(BIE
—E-FF+AR
—E--F—-R
BB SRS 2R

FA7THRUEFTA))
FE G £ SRHERTEY
F8(EFTA) EE

BB GEER HEBIEZ S

F12R(EFIAR) EEWEE
kBEEH
RO SE R T8

BAGER B B 18

F125(BFIA)  HE-IH
ZREFR A

BAGER BETHECR

ER RN i

B RS RS R

EBwE

FE 2R (BT A)

BRI XRTE SN - RARFE e A F
AINRERTE BB REELE A
SERFERBEFENTBHARR
ERRBAR/LZEEEUBREM
OB ESAZE -
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

2.1

22

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments define
accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.
An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves
measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective
set out by the accounting policy. The amendments
to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates, and changes in accounting policies
and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year
had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE 7525 £ Bk AR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS

Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(Continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses
to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added
to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group’s accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_ME=A=+—-RILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

Amendments to HKFRSS in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020y?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements?

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited f8F/&%E £ EiER AR A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)
Amendments to HKFRSS in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong companies ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries as at
31 March.

() Subsidiaries
Control is achieved when the Company:

® has power over the investee;

* is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its investment with the investee; and

* has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continuead)

(i)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) RETBER#Z)

112

(i) Subsidiaries (Continued)
When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce with
the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform
the related processes or they significantly contribute
to the ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced
without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to
continue producing outputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) KEFBER#E)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEHBERE)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”)
except for transactions and events within the scope
of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) - Int 21, in which the Group
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) - Int 21 instead of the
Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination. Contingent assets
are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
values, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee
Benefits” respectively;
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NOTES TO'THE CONSGLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nT A ﬂﬂﬁiﬁﬁpﬂni

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_ME=A=+—-RILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered
into to replace share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date;

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”
are measured in accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for (a) which the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) KEFBER#Z)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEHBERE)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at
fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period”
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_ME=A=+—-RILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) RETBER#Z)

32 BEXEREERE)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

116

Business combinations (Continued)
The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement

RO (E)
ST S LEE 32
SR8 2 B 3T B3R 0

period adjustments depends on how the contingent Eﬁ?%%%ﬁfﬁjﬁﬂ Al 9 $8
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that DEAER ZHAREL

is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS
9 would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposal directly of the
previously held equity interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) KEFBER#E)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEHBERE)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purposes
of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units (‘CGUs”) (or groups
of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating segment. A
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_ME=A=+—-RILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) RETBER#Z)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEBERE)

Revenue from contracts with customers EF &AW

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a REEREKBLE TR
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” ) iR - BB ERAE

EHERE 2 & ah S AR AT 42 il |

ERERPK -

of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

BHOEEHE —BARES SRR

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or

a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series BE—HERIRE)H—F
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the FIRBAER A RS mB R -

same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one

7 & AN E R — IR R T IE
bR EES - WARRZ
EERMABROETAEEM

of the following criteria is met: LR TR

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes s EFPRAKERENKRRF
the benefits provided by the Group's performance W R ZRAAREERBLFR
as the Group performs; RN

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances s REAK AEENED
an asset that the customer controls as the Group Bl RIEARE P IEHIEE
performs; or E ok

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset s AEEMBAKRLEIES

AEBEAEERAZNE
B MASEE RGBT
BUREZESEBEOIOH
KIE ©

with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when GR - WABREFESHRE
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or B RIS E G R R o
service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) KEFBER#E)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEHBERE)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Contract assets on construction contracts represent the
Group’s right to consideration for work completed and not
billed as the rights are conditional on the Group’s future
performance in satisfying the respective performance
obligations. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Contract liabilities on construction contracts represent the
Group’s obligation to transfer project works to customers
for which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customers.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice.
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NOTES TO'THE CONSGLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nT A ﬂﬂﬁiﬁﬁpﬂni

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_ME=A=+—-RILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) RETBER#Z)

3.2 EAREHEKE)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

120

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration (variation
order of construction contract), the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will be entitled using
either (a) the expected value method or (b) the most likely
amount, depending on which method better predicts
the amount of consideration to which the Group will be
entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) KEFBER#E)

3.2 ERETHEE)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the provision of services, or for
administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) RETBER#Z)
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A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 7( SRR (2)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEHBERE)
Leases (Continued) HE(E)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REEEREBEAE)
Right-of-use assets EHBEEE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: FREEENKABRE

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

* any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

® any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

®* an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) RETBER#Z)
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Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable and payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEBERE)
Leases (Continued) HE(E)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REEEREBEAE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modiifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

* the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

* the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) RETBER#Z)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEBERE)

126

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”). Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) KEFBER#E)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEHBERE)
Financial instruments (Continued) THITAE)
Financial assets SREE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

* the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

* the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
FVTPL.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial assets, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “other income” line item.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) KETHERE)
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3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss earned on the financial asset
is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, rental deposits,
amounts due from directors and an associate, time
deposits and cash and cash equivalents) and contract
assets which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12 month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within twelve months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) KEFBER#E)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEHBERE)
Financial instruments (Continued) THITAE)
Financial assets (Continued) eWMEEE)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
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significantly since initial recognition, the Group ERBEEE KNEEM
compares the risk of a default occurring on the i K%lﬂvﬁzi W& B
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the H/\ BT EEAREDR
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument REEBEVSEABR:
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this MTAZREMELNRRE

assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO'THE CONSGLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nT A ﬂﬂﬁiﬁﬁpﬂni

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_ME=A=+—-RILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

* an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

* significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

* existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

* an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

* an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueqd)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

()

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueqd)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

V)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterpart is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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NOTES TO'THE CONSGLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nT A ﬂﬂﬁiﬁﬁpﬂni

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_ME=A=+—-RILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

e Past-due status;

* Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management

to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) KETHERE)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEHEKE)
Financial instruments (Continued) AT HEE)
Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end
of each reporting period.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in
the ‘Other gains and losses’ line item (Note 7) as part of
the net foreign exchange gains/(losses);
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AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) RETBER#Z)

136

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEBERE)
Financial instruments (Continued) THITAE)
Financial assets (Continued) eWMEEE)
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Financial liabilities and equity sREERKRAE
Classification as debt or equity DR BERE LR

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to associates, directors and non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in the ‘Other gains and losses’ line item
in profit or loss (Note 7) as part of net foreign exchange
gains/(losses) for financial liabilities that are not part of a
designated hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) RETBER#Z)

138

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the account of the obligation. The amount recognised
as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. WWhen a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

Onerous contracts present obligations arising under
onerous contracts are recognised and measured
as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to
exist where the Group has a contract under which the
unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the
contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received from the contract. The unavoidable costs under
a contract reflect the least net cost of exiting from the
contract, which is the lower of the net cost of fulfilling it
and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to
fulfil it. When assessing whether a contract is onerous or
loss-making, the Group includes costs that relate directly
to the contract, consisting of both the incremental costs
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfiling contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) KEFBER#E)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEHBERE)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use Y¥E BERZEAREHE
assets HERE

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Other non-
current asset with indefinite useful lives are test for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating units to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
CGU for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGU to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGU.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) RETBER#Z)
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If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of CGU,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGU, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGU. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of CGU. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of CGU. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 7( SRR (2)

3.2 ERETHEE)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets (Continueq)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU or a group
of CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or the CGU or a group of
CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

Retirerment benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme,
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries) after deducting any amount
already paid.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) RETBER#Z)

142

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measure at fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based payments reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted
is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share-based payment reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) KEFBER#E)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXEHBERE)

Share-based payments (Continued)

URGBERZ 5 (E)

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions DERAEE2URODARER 2
(Continued) RS (&)
Share options granted to non-employees [FIFEIE B 12 1 8 AR #E

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where
that the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which
case they are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the date the entity
obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the
service. The fair values of the goods or services received
are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or services
qualify for recognition as assets).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash;
and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as define above.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. MUGSHBHRZEERE
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) RETBER#Z)

32 BEXEREERE)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

144

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with interests in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interest are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to the relevant
assets and related liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on the relevant assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Judgement in identifying whether provide vessel chartering and related
services contract includes a lease

The Group enters contract with customers in providing
vessel chartering and related services. In determining if the
contract is, or contains, a lease, management considers all
vessels together. The directors of the Company assess all the
facts and circumstances if the Group has practical ability to
substitute alternative vessels throughout the period of use and
would benefit economically from the exercise of its right to
substitute of the vessels.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continueq)
Judgement in identifying whether provide vessel chartering and related
services contract includes a lease (Continued)

The directors of the Company have established that the Group
can use the vessels for other purposes during the course of
the contract to provide services to other customers. Therefore,
customers do not have rights to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from the use of vessels and related
services. As a result, the directors of the Company concluded
that customers have not contracted for substantially all of the
capacity of vessels, including related services, and therefore
the contract does not contain a lease.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and contract assets

The directors of the Company calculates ECL for the trade
receivables and contract assets, which is assessed individually
for significant trade debtors and contract assets and
collectively for remaining trade debtors and contract assets.
The provision rates applied are estimated using the historical
observed default rates of the debtors taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonably and supportably
available without undue costs or effort. At the end of the
reporting period, these historical loss rates are reassessed
and updated if required after considering the forward-looking
information. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group’s
trade receivables and contract assets are disclosed in Notes
20, 21 and 33. The net carrying amount of trade receivables
and contract assets at 31 March 2024 for the Group are
HK$61,346,000 and HK$52,192,000 (2023: HK$45,287,000
and nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the assets belong. Changing the key
inputs and assumptions, including the budgeted sales, gross
profit margin, annual and terminal growth rates and discount
rate applied in the cash flow projection, could materially
affect the recoverable amounts. As at 31 March 2024, the
carrying amount of goodwill is HK$25,400,000. Details of the
impairment assessment of goodwill are disclosed in Note 19.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents revenue arising from provision of vessel
chartering and related services and ship management
Services.

Information reported to the executive director of the
Company, Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy (“Mr. Wen”), being the
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”) of the Group,
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance focuses on types of service provided.
The Group’s operating segments are previously classified
as (i) vessel chartering and related services; and (ii) ship
management services. To cope with the Group’s recent
business development in marine construction services,
the information reported to the CODM regarding to marine
construction services is newly added as an operating and
reportable segment, resulting in changes to the presentation
of the Group’s operating and reportable segments on the
Group’s segment revenue and results. Figures in the segment
information for and as at year ended 31 March 2023 have
been re-presented for comparative purposes.

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

EXEFHABRAFIEEER
ZNEEXRIRE)

BERE
REREEGREAGEENS
REMRSEEEVN]KESE
(FAEBESIATFERLEXNAZER
BE) AEBEHIEENBRS
EXBEMRNAKESRE . EXEE
METRRFTERAE Zim ABUE &R
R(PIETAEHEEE  EAX - FF
M R R RBIR R ) Al e
ARECHEELEEATE - W_F
“HEZA=+—H8 " BENE@
{84 25,400,000/8 7T - B BEEER
B FBERNE19HE -

AR B EH
WA TSR A AR TE & AR R RS IA
KR E IR RISE LA ©

RETERD ERFEDEBRERM
AARBATEFRFHREE(NR
FEDEAEEBTIBRERESE
(TEEREREE ) RHNERA
ERFEERBAEL - KEEH
BEDEEA D B MAEE RAIE
BAMRTS R (i) M E R - BEC
AEARKEMREEZERBNER
BR EWMTIBELERRERH
BERERBOENMERLEE

EH/NE  EHAKEREENZ
WOy 2 AEE DRI A K E
BRI BRLERBH NR_T_=F
ZA=t—"BREBEZRALFED
MEHTNHFOREIIABELE

Annual Report 2024 F5&

149



150

NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_ME=A=+—-RILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuea)

(i) Vessel chartering

and

related services:

(i) Ship management

services:

(i) Marine construction

services:

The Group provides vessel chartering
services mainly to contractors for
construction projects in Hong Kong,
including time chartering representing
the hiring of vessel and crew for a
specific period of time and voyage
chartering representing the hiring of
vessel and crew for a specific voyage
between two designated locations.

The Group provides ship management
services for two vessels which
transport the dewatered sludge
from Stonecutters Island and other
designated sites to the sludge
treatment facilities located at Nim Wan,
Tuen Mun. The Group is responsible
for the provision of crew members
for daily operation and the repair and
maintenance services.

The Group provides marine construction
and engineering services and mainly
to contractors for marine construction
projects in Hong Kong.

These operating segments also represent the Group’s
reportable segments. No operating segments identified by
the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable

segments of the Group.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuea)

Segment revenues and results

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating are reportable segments:

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

AR S EBE R (&)
2 ERURA R AR

B AR EEDIT -

Vear ended 31 March 2024 BE_F_FE=F=1—HILFE
Vessel
chartering Ship Marine
and related management construction
services services services  Eliminations Total
HREER B
HERE MEEERE BERE I st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET FTHERT FEx FET
SEGMENT REVENUE DERBA
External revenue HNEBUR A 145,475 26,379 162,750 - 334,604
Inter-segment revenue 2 EFE 2 WA 13,413 - 1,448 (14,861) -
Total k) 158,888 26,379 164,198 (14,861) 334,604
Segment profit 73803 ) 63,221 12,084 14,416 - 89,721
Other income EA 2,667
Other gains and losses Hiples ME1E 11,203
Administrative expenses THRAX (68,413)
Finance costs BE KA (824)
Share of result of an associate AE—FEEE A BIEE 277
Profit before taxation BB AT F 34,631
Vear ended 31 March 2023 BE—E_=—F=ZF=1+—HIFE
|
Vessel
chartering Ship Marine
and related management construction
services services services  Eliminations Total
HHEER B
EERE MMEERRK BER® e Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FEx TER FEx FEx
SEGMENT REVENUE DEBA
External revenue CIS: 1SN 213,924 25,952 - - 239,876
Inter-segment revenue P EEZ A = = = = =
Segment profit D EREF 77,841 11,474 - - 89,315
Other income HipgA 4,734
Other gains and losses Hiplas kE1E (534)
Administrative expenses THHAX (43,338)
Finance costs BE B AR (60)
Share of results of associates DEEE AR EE (1,047
Profit before taxation R B AT 49,070
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note
3. Segment profit represents the profit before taxation earned
by each segment without allocation of share of result of an
associate, other income, other gains and losses, administrative
expenses and finance costs. This is the measure reported
to the CODM of the Group for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Except as disclosed above, no other amounts are regularly
provided to the CODM of the Group and therefore, no further
analysis is presented.

Segment assets and liabilities
No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is
presented as they are not regularly provided to the CODM
of the Group on making decision for resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Revenue from major services
The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources:

(@) Vessel chartering and related services

The Group provides vessel chartering services mainly
to contractors for construction projects in Hong Kong,
including time chartering representing the hiring of
vessel and crew for a specific period of time and voyage
chartering representing the hiring of vessel and crew for
a specific voyage between two designated locations. The
Group recognises the fee received or receivable as its
revenue over time in the period in which the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as services are
performed by the Group. Revenue is recognised for these
vessel chartering and related services based on the stage
of completion of the contract using output method.
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5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue from major services (Continued)

(b)

Ship management services

The Group provides ship management services for two
vessels which transport the dewatered sludge from
Stonecutters Island and other designated sites to the
sludge treatment facilities located at Nim Wan, Tuen Mun.
The Group recognises the fee received or receivable as
its revenue over time in the period in which the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as services are
performed by the Group. Revenue is recognised for
these ship management services based on the stage of
completion of the contract using output method.

Marine construction services

The Group provides marine construction and engineering
services mainly to contractors for marine construction
projects in Hong Kong. The Group recognises the fee
received or receivable as its revenue as a performance
obligation satisfied over time as the Group creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for
these marine construction services based on the value of
marine construction work using output method.

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue from major services (Continued)

(©

Marine construction services (Continued)

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the
same contract, is recognised over the period in which
the construction services are performed representing the
Group’s right to consideration for the services performed
because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s
future performance in achieving specified milestones or
the value of construction work has to be agreed with
the customers. The contract assets are transferred to
trade receivables when the rights become unconditional.
The Group typically transfers the contract assets to
trade receivables when the Group issued invoice to
the customers based on the value of work certified by
independent qualified surveyors.

Retention receivables, prior to expiration of defect liability
period, are classified as contract assets, which ranges
from one year from the date of the practical completion
of the construction. The relevant amount of contract
asset is reclassified to trade receivables when the defect
liability period expires. The defect liability period serves as
an assurance that the construction services performed
comply with agreed upon specifications and such
assurance cannot be purchased separately.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation
for contracts with customers

For marine construction contracts, the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2024
amounting to HK$349,427,000 (2023: nil). Management
expects that all the remaining performance obligations will
be recognised as revenue over the next three years (2023:
nil) from the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its
major Services:

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

AR S EBE R (&)
DERMARFE (E)

AT RRAANEEEEIRBE WA
DT

2024 2023
—ZE g —EC-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Vessel chartering and related services — MFATE & M 878 AR 15 145,475 213,924
Ship management services MM E AR 26,379 25,952
Marine construction services BERER 162,750 —

334,604 239,876

For contracts for vessel chartering and related services and
ship management services, the Group bills for each period of
service provided.

Payment of the transaction price is generally due within 30 to
90 days. All unsatisfied vessel chartering and related services
and ship management services contracts are for periods
of less than one year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

Geographical information

As all the Group’s revenue is derived from customers located
in Hong Kong and all the Group’s identifiable non-current
assets are principally located in Hong Kong, no geographical
segment information is presented.
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NOTES TOTHE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the Group’s revenue are as follows:

AR S EBEH (&)
FRTEEFNEHN
RIBEFEEAREBRAER10%
HEPWAIT

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FTHERT

Customer A’ PR
Customer B BRI
Customer C? EFPA?
Customer D2 BEPT?

N/A T8 F2 61,051

N/A T f3 24,055
77,012 N/A “NigE e
67,020 N/A 7~ 8

U Revenue from vessel chartering services segment.

2 Revenue from marine construction services segment.

Y The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group.

6. OTHER INCOME

L REMMBERBE D IBAYWA -

2 REBEERERB D BAWA -

g B M 7 4 {7 5= 48 IR A 109% BA
J:o

Hithuk A

2024 2023
—E_OE —E-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

THERT TET

Interest income from banks RITFBUA 1,870 1,135
Management fee income ERBRKA 360 360
Government grants (Note) BT L (M 5E) = 2,790
Others Hith 437 449

2,667 4,734
Note: BifaE -

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised the government
grants of HK$2,790,000 relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by
the Hong Kong Government.
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OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

1. Hittas Rk e RS

2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET

Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BER

plant and equipment R EEE (21) (539)
Fair value change of financial EATEFABSHNESREE

asset at FVTPL AT EZE (406) —
Gain on deemed disposal of equity RIEH & — A& AR

interest of an associate (Note19) IRt Ry e (F9EE19) 11,900 —
Exchange loss b H &8 (272) —
Others Hh 2 5

11,203 (534)

IMPAIRMENT LOSS UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET 8.

OF REVERSAL

FHREEBRENXETAGRE
B8 - HIREE £

2024 2023
—E_OE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FTHET

Reversed impairment losses recognised #BUREEERE 5

on trade receivables and
contract assets

FEWGRIA K & KV B EMER

(311) (3,863)

Details on impairment assessment are set out in Note 33.

FINANCE COSTS

BRI ER 2 FBHNMRES3 -

9. BBEMA

2024 2023
—E_OE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000

TR FRET

Interest on bank and other borrowings #8177 K H i f& 3k F & 322 —
Interest on lease liabilities HEARENE 502 60
824 60
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NOTES TOTHE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

10. FRBHMAX

2024 2023
—E_E —Eg-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FET

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEENEH
— Current year —RFEE 4,415 4,094
— Underprovision in prior year —BEFEREBETIR - 307
4,415 4,401
Deferred tax (Note 22): EERIA(FFE22) ¢
Current year KFEE 680 3,214
5,095 7,615

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of assessable profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continuea) 10.
The income tax expenses for year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

FrisHiB (&)
FANAEHAXEEEERRE
tb, 2 1 W &8 2% O R A BT & A 3 AR 0
T

2024
—E-MEF
HK$’000
FET

2023
—E-=F

HK$’000
FHET

Profit before taxation B %4 A 4 A 34,631 49,070
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax REBNENRTE16.5%

rate of 16.5% STEENIE 5,714 8,097
Tax effect of share of result of e —EEE R REER

an associate Wigw & (46) 173
Tax effect of income not taxable B AN -2

for tax purposes (2,318) (1,518)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible R0k -2

for tax purposes 2,523 739
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRR IBEBIEOH G2 280 —
Utilisation of tax losses previously not AL RERNNIEEE

recognised (881) —
Underprovision in prior years BAFERETR - 307
One-off tax deduction of profits tax M BH— X EFF B

by Inland Revenue Department (12) (18)
Tax effect of two-tiered profits 15 H50 o A% ol B0 o 755 s 22

tax rate regime (165) (165)
Income tax expenses FriSfifA X 5,095 7,615
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

11. PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 1. FREFREZEINSEE

2024 2023
—E_E —Eg-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FET

Profit and total comprehensive income & A% FI & & E W %5 4858 5
for the year has been arrived KR AT SIERFE ¢
at after charging:

Staff costs, including directors’ BIXA(BEESEHE)

remuneration (Note 12) (FFEE12)

— Salaries and other allowances — ¥ M HE )AL 102,637 67,676

— Retirement benefit scheme —RREFIFT B

contributions (Note 30) (BFzE30) 2,930 2,037

Total staff costs FS= 5 %N 105,567 69,713
Amortisation of an intangible asset B A 2,830 —
Depreciation of property, M - BEMREBETE

plant and equipment 11,691 8,116
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 5,424 1,994
Auditor’s remuneration 1% EREN N & 1,500 2,213
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOVEES’ EMOLUMENTS  12. =% - FETHRASRESHE

(a) Directors and the chief executive a EERIETHAE
Details of the emoluments paid or payable by the entities FRNENAEENERBRES
comprising the Group to the directors and the chief RAEEXETHRABENH
executive of the Group during the year are as follows: EREBMEFFEEIT -

Retirement

Salaries benefit

and other Discretionary scheme
allowances bonus contributions Total

FER BIKER
e At RERA SRR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR Tign TR TiEn

For the year ended BE-_Z_ME
31 March 2024 ZA=t—H
EEE
Executive directors: WITEE:
Mr. Wen (Note a) BIE(HzEa) 3,780 283 1,245 8 5,316
Ms. Chan (Note a) Bt (Hita) 3,360 283 1,245 8 4,896
Independent non-executive B IFHITES
directors:
Ms. Chan Hei Ting (Note ¢) PR &= & £ (FifsEc) 240 - - - 240
Ms. Hong Ting (Note ¢) EEz+(MEc) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Ng Simon (note d) a8 5 & (HizEd) 213 - - - 213

7,833 566 2,490 16 10,905
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NOTES TOTHE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

12. EE - TETHAERESHE

(Continued) (&)
(a) Directors and the chief executive (Continued) @ EERIFBTBAEE)
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
ek BUEEH
Be HitRa miERA HE @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THET FHERT THET TET
For the year ended BE-Z-=F%
31 March 2023 =ZA=+-H
LFE
Executive directors: WITES
Mr. Wen (Note a) L) 2160 283 2,000 - 4,443
Ms. Chan (Note a) Bt (Fidsta) 1,920 283 2,000 - 4203
Independent non-executive B IFHITESE
directors:
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung (Note b) A ARESR A4
(FfizED) 186 - - - 186
Mr. Fu Bradley (Note b) HEELE
(FftsEb) 180 - - - 180
Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis BZER R E
(Note b) (Fd3EDo) 210 - - - 210
Ms. Chan Hei Ting Notec) ~ FR#A B2z (FiisEc) 60 - - - 60
Ms. Hong Ting (Note ¢) ezt (MizEe) 55 - - - 55
4,771 566 4,000 = 9,337
Notes: Mt sk
(@  Mr. Wen and Ms. Chan are entitled to bonus payments which are (a) REERRZ LB EERE

determined based on the Group’s performance for the year.

(b)  Mr. Wu Tai Cheung, Mr. Fu Bradley and Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis
resigned as the independent non-executive directors of the
Company with effect from 9 January 2023, 30 December 2022
and 15 February 2023, respectively.

() Ms. Chan Hei Ting and Ms. Hong Ting were appointed as the
independent non-executive directors of the Company with effect
from 30 December 2022 and 9 January 2023, respectively.

(d)  Mr. Ng Simon was appointed as the independent non-executive
directors of the Company with effect from 12 May 2023.
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A ZTEATIRBEAREFER
ZRBERE -

AR E  BEELEERE
B IR AR A R I
TEE HAE_T_=F—
AhA - ZZTE=Z=ZF+=A
=+RR-TE-_=%-A+H
BB -

BREBLLTNBELTEEZ(T
BARNRBIUINTES  H
AME=Z=-=F+=A=+H
M- =F—ANBBER-

Mttt R EEEZERRRAE
VFHTEE BT _=F
EA+TZBEEN -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors and the chief executive (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group during the year.
Mr. Wen is also the chief executive of the Company and
the Group, and his emoluments disclosed above included
those for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director of the
Company or the chief executive of the Group waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during both years.

Employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group included 2
directors (2023: 2 directors) of the Company during the
year, whose emoluments are included in the disclosure
above. Details of the emoluments for the year of the
remaining 3 (2023: 3) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are
as follows:

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z_WE=A=+—RHIFE

12. EE - FETHAERESHE

(%)

(a)

()]

EEREFETBRARE)

EXRTRHITESHME o5
ERERAEEARARB RAKE
SHREM R M Bt

EMRARBNAEENTR
TTHAER  MER EXHED

Me P hEERETRITRAER
FrER A BRTS -

£ XFTURE IR E F A B
EOREERRAREEREHR
B AR T S A e

R EEERARIZ: T RVACS IR/
RAESAAKREETERTHRAR
MEXFREREEAMESHNL
B

==

FR - AEBNAL RS
REBEARAMBES(ZZE
TEF  WMRBES) HMWe#H
REXEBEER - #BT=%(=
T=F ZR)FARRAES
HEBITHRABNESFHE
BHMeNT

2024
—R_NF
HK$’000
FHET

2023
—m— =

—_

HK$’000
FB

Salaries and other allowances Fre M HE)EEG 5,432 3,285
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R RTE FIET 24 3% 75 54
5,507 3,339
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NOTES TOTHE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS ~ 12. EF * FETHRAERESHE

(Continued) (&)

(b) Employees (Continued) b EE#E)
The emoluments of these employees were within the ZEEEHNMENTUATE
following bands: :

Number of employees

EEHE

Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 838 1,000,000 %8 7T = 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 B2

2,000,000 % 7T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 TE

2,500,000 7T 2 —
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FR - AEEBVYERNARAE
to the directors of the Company or the chief executive of EFIAEETETHRABERR
the Group or the five highest paid individuals of the Group SEREZEHMA LA
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as SERRSIBEMALREE K
compensation for loss of office. A £ B R A9 3R B sk 1E R B

e -
13. DIVIDENDS 13. lRER

2024 2023
—E_ME —ZE=-=

HK$’000 HK$°000

FTHET FTET

Dividends for ordinary shareholders of ~ FRER A DK AR T LB

the Company recognised as ARAR R AR . -
distribution during the year:
2023 Final - HK$1.8 cents T =FRE—1.85(
(2022 Final: HK$2.0 cents) (ZZZZFXRH : 2.08M1) 18,000 20,000
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13.

14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

DIVIDENDS (Continued) 13. RE(#)
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend R|EARE  ARRESFZIRE
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2024 of HK$1.0 cent MEBEE—_ZT_MFEF=A=+—H1
(2023: HK$1.8 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate FEIk 1‘JL§EHHH§ FREBEA1.0
amount of HK$10,000,000 (2023: HK$18,000,000), has been B ZE_=ZF:1.88M) A&
proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject #10,000,0008 (=T = = &F -
to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming general 18,000,000 7T ) + WA FRE R
meeting. [@Fﬁxﬁﬁiﬁ’stﬁt/ﬁ{% CHE
EE -
EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BRER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to RAREE NEBIEEBRERRRNT)
owners of the Company is based on the following data: BB TEBAE -
Earnings: AF -
Profit for the year attributable to owners R EERERZFME

of the Company for purpose of basic RAEHEBABLEFEE

earnings per share (HK$’000) A (FATT) 31,584 36,011
Number of shares: ROERE :

Weighted average number of ordinary AT EEREABNME

shares for the purpose of basic AR N

earnings per share (in thousand) (F8) 1,000,000 1,000,000
No diluted earnings per share is presented for both years as AR EBRTEELBR U E
there was no potential ordinary share in issue. HREFE2YGREERT -
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITION  15. ¥1%¥ - BMER R E AR E
OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT WE - BERRENES

Machinery Furniture
Leasehold and and Motor
Vessels improvement  equipment fixtures vehicles Total

# BEXE BHRRE  HRRZE AE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin TR

cosT S
At 1 Apr 2022 R-E--FMA-H 120,304 1,208 3070 1,208 5,500 131,310
Additions & 2,778 - - - - 0778
Disposals (& (3,710) - - - - (3,710)
At 31 March 2023 R-E-ZF=R=1-H 149,372 1,208 3070 1,208 5,500 160,378
Addtions & - 2748 - - - 2748
Acouired on acquisition of WENBARREA

subsidlaries (Note 19) (F19) - 39 9,69 8 928 10,745
Disposals (& = = - - (146) (146)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-MmE=R=1-H 149,372 4,015 12,765 1,291 6,282 173,725
DEPRECIATION it
At 1 Apr 2022 R-E--FMA-H 2,197 1,220 1,461 %7 2,105 27,940
Provided for the year it 6,664 7 536 68 841 8116
Eliminated on disposals {H E R4 (621) - - - - (621)
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=F=f=+-H 28240 1207 1,997 1,02 2946 35435
Provided for the year it 7510 47 2628 7 1,004 11,691
Eliminated on disposals {h E R 18 = - - - (108) (108)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=R=1-A 35,810 1,644 4,625 1,097 3,842 41,018
CARRYING VALUES BEE
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=ZA=1-A 113,562 231 8,140 194 2,440 126,707
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=%#=f=+-H 121,132 1 1,073 183 2554 124,43
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15.

16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITION
OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated, taking into account their estimated residual
values, on a straight-line basis and at the following rates per
annum:

Vessels 5%
Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the term of
lease, or 20%

Machinery and equipment 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment
represented deposits paid for acquisition of vessels in prior
year.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

16. FHEEE

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

15. M¥ - BERRE BARKE

ME - BERRENRE#)
Lty - BB REBEE EE
BREENGHRSGEERAERSR
BT FENRITE -

ispiis 5%

HERE RHEEFH(NE
BAGHIA)
FHI% 20%

W ERE 20%
FEREE  20%
RE 20%

RBEFE  SLBBEDE - BE R
RECHESERERPNEHZ

A
i e

Leased Motor
properties Carpark vehicles Total
HEWE FE5 AE At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THET TET TET THET
At 31 March 2023 MRZZTEZ=%F
=A=+—H”
Carrying amount FREE 3,960 37 — 3,997
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-MF
=A=+—H
Carrying amount REE 6,481 38 4,999 11,518
For the year ended BE-ZT-=%=-H
31 March 2023 =+—HILFE
Depreciation charge ~ T &EEA 1,884 110 — 1,994
For the year ended BE-ZT-IMF=H
31 March 2024 =+—HLFE
Depreciation charge WEER 3,420 37 1,967 5,424
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NOTES TOTHE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

16. RIGHT-0F-USE ASSETS (Continued)

16. EAEEE®)

2024
—E-MEF
HK$’000
FET

2023

—E=-=
HK$’000

FET

Expenses relating to short-term leases  #252 S EH A 344 490
Total cash outflow for leases HERe R ERE 5,653 2,554
Additions to right-of-use assets ANEFRAEEE 6,791 3,801
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B B B8 A A 6,154 —

The above items of right-of-use assets depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the following period:

Leased properties 1-5years
Carpark 1-2years
Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years

For both years, the Group leases various leased properties,
carpark and motor vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of one to five years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions.

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

tREREEERBREGEESE
KT EARIHR I E -

HEmE 1254
=E5 1E24F
RE 4EBF

RMEFE ARELSHEELHE
ZEHEME FESkAE-H
EANA/—ERFEEHES - HE
R Ty E R TR - 25
ERARHERR AR -

17. RAEE QTR

2024
—EoE
HK$’000
FET

2023

—g=-=
HK$’000

FET

Unlisted investments: JELEMRE -
Cost of investments &R A 1,710 1,727
Share of post-acquisition profits, PaK (SR G K- ik
net of dividends received (BB WK E) 1,724 2,270
Group’s share of net AEE DB QT
assets of associates MEEFE 3,434 3,997
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continuea)
Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Place of
establishment/

Name of entities operation

17.

NS
G

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

REE QTR (2)

LHK  AREEBHEATY
mF

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting rights
held by the Group

Principal activities

AEEFREENESEES

ERER FR 3L b B

2024

—E-MEF
Scenic Shipping Company Hong Kong 20.0%
Limited (“Scenic Shipping”)
AN AR AR BB
(FeAksAETS 1)
Eastlink Marine Hong Kong 40.0%
RfEE E
Yun Lee (Tim Kee) Marine Hong Kong N/A
Construction Limited
(“YLTK?)
BRI ORR)BEIREMRAR HA & A

(MERMAE )

R RRELL A

2023

—E-=
20.0% Inactive
(Note (ii)
(MHEE () EmER
40.0% Provision of vessel chartering
and related services
REAMEE R AB RS
17.0% Provision of marine
(Note (i)) construction services
(BiFEE () tRMEERERS

Notes:

(i) The Group is entitled to appoint up to and has appointed 1 out of 4
directors to the board of directors of this entity as at 31 March 2023.
Hence, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the Group has
significant influence over the entity. Accordingly, the entity is accounted
for a 17.0% owned associate of the Group. On 2 May 2023, the
reporting period, the Group further acquired 34% equity interests in
YLTK. The detail is disclosed in Note 19.

(i) During the reporting period, the Group has applied deregistration for
Scenic Shipping.

GEX

R-ZE-_ZF#=ZA=+—8 X&H
ERZARERESSIRES PR
%1% WEHHEBEE - Bt - &
AREERAE  AEBEYHZEREEE
AEE  BWHEBARARNESERS
17.0% EENBEE QR - RZZT=Z=F
AAZH  AEE#E—SWEREFR
F034% RRHE o FFIEMNMIFE 10 IHEE -

RSN - NREEE RFT B
% o
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NOTES TOTHE CUNSUI.IDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_ZT-_MF=A=+—HIFE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. REHERATIRIERE ()
Summarised financial information of associates BE AR IEERBE
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s REENBERRNMBERRE
associates is set out below. The summarised financial R T X o TXHEHYIH B % EFHE
information below represents amounts shown in the ZIRBIBEEBM WS ERFTRER
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with GolilpNCll P s el s i
HKFRSs.
The associates are accounted for using the equity method in BERRRAERENZERZS Y
these consolidated financial statements. BT AN ©
Eastlink Marine REE

2024 2023

—ZE g —EC-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T FET

Revenue WA 860 1,543
Profit and total comprehensive FERMNREEBEBTE

income for the year 694 1,555
Dividends received from FRUEREE R FIRE

the associate during the year 840 1,280
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information Ft B E R EEmRN AR IS
to the carrying amount of the interest in Eastlink Marine RERNRM B EEREEEMNY
recognised in the consolidated financial statements: Bk

2024 2023
—E_ME —E=-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

TR T

Net assets of Eastlink Marine RBENEEFE 8,585 9,992
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBREMEER

interest in Eastlink Marine TEE R 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEERRMEERN

interest in Eastlink Marine HERRmE 3,434 3,997
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of associates (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

17. REtE LTINS &)
BEQATNHBERNBE &)

VITK B FFEE
|

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FHET
Current assets RBEE 73,458
Non-current assets EREBEE 21,438
Current liabilities mEAaE (84,838)
Non-current liabilities FRBERE (15,745)

2023
—E-=
HK$’000
FHET
Revenue WA 140,469
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEBEREZEM YRR
for the year (29,428)
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NOTES TOTHE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z_WE=F=+—RItFE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. REHERATIRIERE ()
Summarised financial information of associates (Continued) BEQATNBKERBE(Z)
YLTK (Continueq) BRI EE ()
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information P BERE RN S MW
to the carrying amount of the interest in YLTK recognised in RIERHN BN R ERREEN S
the consolidated financial statements: ik :

2023
—E-=

HK$’000

FEx

Net asset of YLTK BAARGENEEFE —
Proportion of the Group’s AEERBEARZH

ownership interest in YLTK A RERE R L 17%
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEENBFRGTH

interest in YLTK ERIREE —

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FERT
The unrecognised share of loss of RERFE DG
an associate for the year Bt = 2 R E 1R (3,334)
Cumulative unrecognised share of RET ARG
loss of an associate NG SR (3,334)
18. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSET 18. HitiEREBEE
The Group own a club membership amounted to AEE®HE—EHB %(3 100,000
HK$3,100,000 (2023: HK$3,100,000). BLTHELBeE( T _=F:

3,100,000 7T) °

172 Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited EF /&= £ EiE B R A A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. BUSINESS COMBINATION

Acquisition of YLTK

On 18 January 2023, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to acquire additional 34% of equity
interest from two shareholders of YLTK (the “Vendors”) at
a total consideration of HK$23,800,000 (the “Acquisition”).
The Group is required to pay to the Vendors a total amount
of HK$11,900,000 in cash up to the completion date and
the remaining balance of HK$11,900,000 was settled by
promissory note. The promissory note has an interest of
5% per annum with a maturity date of 12 months from the
completion date.

According to the sales and purchase agreement, each of the
Vendors severally guarantees that the aggregate audited net
profits attributable to the owners of YLTK for the financial years
ending 31 March 2024, 2025, and 2026 shall not be less than
HK$70,000,000. In the event of shortfall, each of the Vendors
severally undertakes to pay 17% of each shortfall within 30
days after the issuance of the audited financial statements for
the financial year ending 2016.

Prior to the Acquisition, the Group holds 17% equity interests
in YLTK and was classified as an associate of the Group at
31 March 2023. On 2 May 2023 (the “Date of acquisition”),
the Acquisition was completed and the Group holds 51%
equity interest in YLTK and YLTK has become a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company. The Acquisition has been
accounted for using the acquisition method. The Group has
elected to measure the non-controlling interest in YLTK at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of YLTK’s
identifiable net assets. The consolidated financial statements
include the results of YLTK and its subsidiary (‘YLTK Group”)
since the acquisition date.

As at the date of acquisition, the fair value of contingent
consideration is HK$2,297,000, which is presented as financial
asset at FVTPL in the consolidated statement of financial
position. For the year ended 31 March 2024, fair value gain of
HK$331,000 is recognised in the profit or loss.

19.

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

E gy

Y BE B FIREC
RZE-_=ZF—HAF+=ZH' &
SEIVUEEmSE UWBRE
23,800,000 % T W i B R R %
R ([E T |)EEIN34% B AR AE (T Uk
BEF|) EExXKBH A%£E
ARE 5 X 3R € # %8 11,900,000
P IT 0 &R %A 11,900,000 78 7T #5 A
ARAZBEEE AHLZRNERE
R5%  FHIRATKBHEN12
BAA -

BEEEHRE SEHDARIZH
EFTNF ZTERFRZT
ZRE=ZA=1+—HLMBFER
BRBEMATHES ANKEEZFEF
B A FFTNMER 70,000,000 7 7T © 1K
BHRRER - FEBH D REERE
BT RNFUHUBREFELEZY
EHRKREBEMZI0ORNI T FIBER
M17% °

RWBEER RZE_=ZF=A
=+—B  XEERBRRLFE
17%BREX D BEAEAEERE A
Ale RZEZ=FRAZ-ZH(WHE
BRI  WESEETK  AEER
HRREC A 51% MHE - BBEAA
REKBARAGFEZEWNB AR -
WHEEBEDFERAREEAR A&
B EEBERIETEREREGEBERIR
AR EEFAELERAENEF
B IEIERER - IRE VB HRE
BREBAMRNTRENB QR ER
R EE ) B R B ELS -

REEAE XAREBEQAEE
2,297,000 BT R & B SRR
2 AEAFEFABENEHE
E-HE_T_-_NFEF=ZA=+—H
IEFE - A FEWE331,000% T
EREBRAER -
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_ME=A=+—-RILFE

19. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Acquisition of YLTK (Continueqd)

The fair value of contingent consideration is measured
based on the scenario-based analysis. The key inputs and
assumptions applied relate to the estimation of expected net
profits in 2024-2026 discount rate applied to the valuation.
The valuation is conducted by the Valuer engaged by
the Company and the chief financial officer of the Group
works closely with the Valuer to establish and determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and key inputs. Such
estimation was based on the management’s expectations on
market development. probability-weighted according to an
assessment of the likelihood of each scenario.

The Group has been actively seeking new business
opportunities from time to time in order to diversify and expand
its business while focusing on the continuous development
of maritime related services and construction business. The
Company’s development plan of its existing maritime services
business includes establishing strong partnerships with other
companies in the maritime-related services and construction
industry to strengthen the Company business’s position in the
market and conducting regular performance reviews to identify
opportunities and areas for improvement.

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited f8F/&%E £ EiER AR A A

19.

xS E)

W EREFIRE (&)
SARERFHELRBEER DA
E-EATEHABELKRERE
HEMERAZ T _HNFE_F
TRFEHEAN BB R 2 A5
B - mESTHAKRERE 2 GEA
1T BN 5 B B 75 48 B B A (B B 2
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KRB ABIE - HEAGT DEREE
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RAJBEMEAE 2 (A AL o
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HEIRNBEEEREMEEXEKHN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE_Z-_WF=A=+—HILFE

19. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 19. ¥E6#E)
Assets and liabilities of YLTK Group recognised at the date of FA Uk EE B HRRERR RV R R R E MY
acquisition BERAE
HK’000
FET
Plant and equipment B ] 10,745
Right-of-use assets ERAREE 6,154
Deferred tax assets BEHIBEE 1,346
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEURIA - Tﬁ/i\&iﬁﬁ IR 19,679
Amounts due from a related company g NI 7,969
Loan to a non-controlling interest shareholder EE=3 Hxﬂxﬁhf/\f?ﬂ 3,070
Contract assets BHEE 39,893
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEEEY 6,764
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b e FRIE (44,567)
Amounts due to a related company FET—FRE B A B 5k I8 65)
Amount due to non-controlling interest JE < — R BT 8 2 R SE1E AR AR SR K18
shareholder of a subsidiary (30,541)
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary e —E R KB AR KA (3,618)
Tax payables FET R IE (4,811)
Lease liabilities HEaE (5,761)
Bank borrowings RITER (9,522)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value BRAFEFEZAIBMNFRERRE (3,265)
Non-controlling interests FEIERRHE 1,600
Fair value of previously held 17% ARG AT 17% IRER
equity interests of YLTK (Note) NEBTEE) (11,900)
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 2 A FEF ABRZMNEREE 2,297
Intangible asset mEAE 11,321
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIARE (1,868)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEEIREA S 25,400
Total consideration BB 23,585
Note:  On the date of acquisition, the Directors have assessed that fair Hiat - RREEH B0 TEBARG
value of the 17% equity interests in YLTK to be measured at its 17% BRENHRTFE - WEZERRER
proportionate share in the fair value of the consideration, resulting in TEMLAGOEE  RAFEEE
gain on deemed disposal of HK$11,900,000 for the current year. RAET & ek 11,900,000 7T ©
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

19. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)
Assets and liahilities of YLTK Group recognised at the Date of
acquisition (Continued)

19. A8 E)

RUE B B AR FIREEREN
BERAEE)

HK’000
FExT
Analysis of cash flows on the Acquisition: W ig FIHELZHE AT -
Cash acquired with the subsidiaries FAENBARREMNRE
during the year (6,764)
Cash paid during the year FAEMNERE 5,950
Net cash inflow on the Acquisition FRRBESHEEEAZBHSRAFE
during the year (814)
Deposit for acquisition of additional equity LR TRUEE — R E AT
interests in an associate previously paid BIMNRIENIZ S 5,950
Promissory note payable issued (Note 25) EBITENALZER(MHE25) 11,685
Total net cash outflow on the Acquisition WHEEESX 2 BIRSRILFE 16,821
Transaction cost of the Acquisition included in 5t AKEEHFAERESREN
cash flows from operating activities WHESEIBRZ KA 947
17,768

The initial accounting for the above acquisition has been
finalized. Goodwill of HK$25,400,000 and intangible asset of
HK$11,321,000, deferred tax of HK$1,868,000 are recognised
on the acquisition of YLTK at the date of acquisition.

The intangible asset represents customer relationship which
are amortised over the remaining contract periods. For the
year ended 31 March 2024, amount of HK$2,830,000 is
recognised in the profit or loss.

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited f8F/&%E £ EiER AR A A

PRV ST RED T
e RUIEE B R B A AR E
& 72 7 % 25,400,000 7 JT & &
& E11,321,00078 7T~ IE & F B
1,868,000/8 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. BUSINESS COMBINATIO N (Continuea)

Assets and liahilities of YLTK Group recognised at the Date of
acquisition (Continued)

The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and in
the financial year in which the acquisition takes place, or
more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be
impaired.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on value in use calculation. The key inputs for the value
in use calculation included budgeted sales, gross profit
margin, growth rates, discount rate applied to the valuation.
Management estimates discount rate using pre-tax rate of
15.8% that reflect current market assessment of the time
value of money and the risk specific to the CGU. The Group
prepares cash flow forecast derived from the most recent
financial budget approved by the management for the next
five years. The cashflows beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate of 3.0%. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, no material impairment loss is
identified for the year ended 31 March 2024. Management
considers that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of the CGU
to exceed the recoverable amount of the CGU.

Included in the profit for the year is HK$11,494,000
attributable to the acquisition of YLTK. Revenue for the year
includes HK$162,750,000 generated from YLTK.

Had the acquisition of YLTK been completed on 1 April
2023, revenue for the year of the Group would have been
HK$176,587,000, and profit for the year would have been
HK$18,259,000.

The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only
and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2023,
nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

19. S8 E)

RULEE B BT AV R RS R B R
BEERAEE)
AEEFFRNETRE M BF
B HIAE SRR (A EAIR KB
B AR E) ETRERERH

ﬁiFEEMZTW@ ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
EREBEZFELS o EAE
= Fﬁﬂ%{%iﬁﬁ\%ﬂ)ﬁ BIEGE
FrERZEEHERE =X
HEEULMBEX - TEENA
15.8% 2 Bt Bl F 2K () B & F i1 35 )
BEENREENRRECEESMRE
[RB 2 G h ) ET AR IR E o REE
BIBEEBEARRAFIE &I
B EERAUREREEN - 1
FHL FZ2 B REA3.0% 2R
EHTHR - RRARESRAE &
—E-_NF=ZA=Z+—HLFE
BEZRREMNENRERE 12
EZJ\F%EHEZ 1E““ ﬁﬁﬁéiz&

iLLE’JﬁEETEﬁ_ F‘ﬁﬁ’f?i T_LE!’J
Al YA 4 FE o

WEBMAZEMLMFERNG N A
11,494,000 7T > F AU A B 15 H
MR EHE 2 162,750,000 58 7T o

MER—ZE-_=ZFNA—HZEHRK
BEAARL  AAREENFRRNKRA
& & 176,587,000/%8 7T © M F A&
FIfE 518,259,000 7T °

BEERHEHRRBE  REORKRW=

T -FMA-HAERBBRAE
BEREESZBAMEEREN

BIF - IABRERREGEZTEM -
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20.

B 5 R EtEWRIE

2024 2023
—E-UEF —Eg-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Trade receivables Z 5 W ERIA
— Third parties —F=75 62,847 43,825
— Associates /N - 2,861
62,847 46,686
Less: Allowance of credit loss B EEBERE (1,501) (1,399)
61,346 45,287
Other receivables o fE R IR
— Prepayments — A FRIB 7,684 2,614
— Deposits —&® 1,579 8,226
— Rental deposits —HE%Rse 1,090 941
- Others —H 138 10
Sub-total NEE 71,837 57,078
Less: Rental deposits shown under B RIFREEEE FIIRE
non-current asset HEZS (457) (238)
Deposit for acquisition of U B — B N T IR S
an associate - (5,950)
Amounts shown under current assets R ENEEIE N5 RH S8 71,380 50,890
The Group allows a credit period of 30 to 90 days (2023: 30 to AEERTEESEPNEESRN
90 days) to its trade customers. TI0ENAR(ZEZ=F:30F
90K) °

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customers. Credit limits attributed to customers and credit
term granted to customers are reviewed regularly.

At 1 April 2022, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to HK$129,517,000.

At 31 March 2024, included in the Group’s trade receivables
is related companies with carrying amount of HK$6,898,000
(2028: nil) due from Pyromajic Multi-media Production Limited,
Kwong Sang Engineering Company Limited and B. C.
Construction Limited which have common directors with the
subsidiaries of the Company.

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited f8F/&%E £ EiER AR A A

REBEMEFHEFEA - AEE G
HEEEPHNEEERREBEERP
MEERE e TR TP AT
BHEERERRTEFPNEERS -

RZE-_—_FWMA—B KB
BEPEPFAEHAMNE ZRERKES
129,517,000/ 7T °

RZZFE-ZWF=ZA=+—0" ' &&§
EMEZESEKNERREERERES
6,898,000 (T —=F: T)
WEWEB AR EZEEBRELRR
naEl - BEKSEHAER AR KB.C.
Construction Limited (B Zx 2 7] Hf
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of
allowance for credit losses presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period:

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

B REMEWREE)
REBRSHRREHZAHZ7IW
B REFIAFIREEBIRRE)
HRRE DT

2024
—E-NE
HK$’000
FET

2023
—=— =

—_

HK$’000
T

Within 30 days 30 KMAA 32,044 14,924
31 to 60 days 3160k 10,068 14,180
61 to 90 days 61 Z 90K 5,446 8,430
91 to 120 days 91 E120K 5,039 3,104
Over 120 days FBiB 120K 8,749 4,649

61,346 45,287

As at 31 March 2023, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$36,121,000 (2023: HK$25,921,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, HK$13,391,000 (2023: HK$4,356,000) has been
past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default
based on good repayment records for these customers and
continuous business with the Group. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
ECL for trade receivables. Trade receivables are assessed
individually for significant trade debtors and collectively for
remaining trade debtors for impairment allowance based on
the historical credit losses experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors and the forward-looking information
at the end of each reporting period.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 33.

R-E-_=F=A=+—H8 A&
EnESEERBELEAEEERR
4 1H 536,121,000 T(Z T ==
& : 25,921,000 T ) &) FE W AR
FoRBmEBHERY - EREs
g - 13,391,000 T(Z &2 = =
£ : 4,356,000 7T ) 2 %8 B 90 K 3k
NE HERBERTFMNRITER
EHEREREERBEETESMT
EHRABEN - AEEVENEH
EREEEREER -

AEBERABHLTERE S RBER
Rt RBHEEERE - BEHRENK
AREBEEE B IREE R E R
BIREBANE ZEH AERERFE R
B NEZEBAERRNE - A
RERSHREBHEANRAELEE
MERNSERRFELFR -

RERHA RIS BRI RE 33
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

21. CONTRACT ASSETS 21.

BHNEE

2024 2023
=l —F =

HK$’000 HK$°000

TR TR

Analysed as current: DTRRE
Unbilled revenue of marine BERESHVNRAR K
construction contracts (note a) (fizEa) 46,128 —
Retention receivables (note b) FEWRE 2 (Fi5EDb) 6,270 —
Less: Allowance of credit loss B EEBERE (206) —
6,064 —
52,192 —
Retention receivables FEUBURE &
Due more than one year —F 1% 5| Hf 4,203 -

As at 1 April 2023, there are no contracts assets.

(a) Unbilled revenue primarily relates to the Group’s right
to consideration for work completed but not yet billed.
Contract asserts arise when the Group has right to
consideration for the work completed under relevant
contracts and their right is conditioned on factors
other than passage of time. The contract asserts are
transferred to trade receivable upon the Group obtains
the certification of the completed marine construction
work from the customers.

(o) Retention receivables primarily relate to the Group’s right
to consideration for work performed and not yet billed.
Contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, Typical due dates
of the retention receivables is normally one year upon
completion. For retention receivables in respect of marine
construction contracts, the due dates are usually one to
two years after the completion of the marine construction
work. Included in the Group’s retention is a related
company with carrying amount of HK$1,081,000 due
from B. C. Contractors Limited which has common
director with the subsidiary of the Company.

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited f8F/&%E £ EiER AR A A

RZEBE-_=FWA—H  BEMLM
BHEE -

(a)

ARERETEEANEEHRD
TLERMAEIREZKBRRED
BNERH - AKEREBEES
WERKBETIIERER
A% HE R BOR T B T 4 LA SN Y
HMARE  GNEEESL -
AEERBSEFHE L AES
BEIRNRBER  ANEE
BWREEHRWUA

ERREeETEZHAEERE
EITBEAFAENTEREERE
MENBER EZSEMNKA
EIXGE AHNEEERERE
SRWFIE - REISHIEFE
HEBEATKE —F - 5
BERESNNERRE S
NIRRT ARBSEEET
BEIZ—ZWF AEER
& € 5 ¥ #R E {8 /& 1,081,000
T B E W B8 B F1B.C.
Construction Limited (E2 4% 2
AIMBARIBXRES) 2K
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22.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continueq) 2. BHBEEE)

The Group classifies these contract assets as current assets AEBEBZEENEEY BRI
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal B RRAAEEEFERNELESR
operating cycle which is within 12 months after the end of the ZERAB(REARHLEREZ12(EA
reporting date. M) BZEEEZE o

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in Note 33. A A BEEH I NRMIFES3 ©
DEFERRED TAXATION 22. RIEFIE

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement MZEMBRAKRZ2NmME - & T
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities BEEMBEERBELEEE - XA
have been off-set. The following is the analysis of the deferred TARMRMBEmE T ELETIELR
tax balances for financial reporting purpose: AT

2024 2023
ekl —F-=

HK$’000 HK$°000

TR TR

Deferred tax assets EETIBEE E 1,320 1,272
Deferred tax liabilities EETRIABE (15,413) (14,163)

(14,003) (12,891)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) NTAASBECERANETEETER
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the BHREEE)RERAFERAR
current and prior years are as follows: FEAMNE

Accelerated
tax Tax ECL Intangible
depreciation losses provision asset Total
RAREE
EBETE BEER EREE BREE #5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT THET THERT FTHET THET
At 1 April 2022 R-E-—F
MA—H 12,368 (2,691) - - 9,677
Charge for the year (Note 10) FE R (HF10) 1,411 1,803 - - 3,214
At 31 March 2023 R-F_=F
=) =755 13,779 (888) = = 12,891
Arise from acquisition RE W
of subsidiaries MEAR 1,948 (3,192) (102) 1,868 522
Charge (credit) for the year (Note 10)  FE R (H %)
(MtzE10) 476 682 (11) (467) 680
At 31 March 2024 R=ZF=E
= =3 16,203 (3,398) (113) 1,401 14,093
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

2e.

23.

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continuea)

At 31 March 20283, the Group has unused tax loss of
HK$34,437,000 (2023: HK$5,382,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of HK$20,594,000 (2023:
HK$5,382,000) of such losses. The loss may be carried
forward indefinitely.

TIME DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits
for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short term cash
commitments, which carry interest at prevailing market
banking deposit rates range from 0.75% to 0.875% (2023:
0.01% to 0.63%).

Time deposits carried interest at fixed-rate which ranges from
2.50% to 4.54% (2023: 3.14% to 3.70%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 33.

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited f8F/&%E £ EiER AR A A

22.

23.

IEAERIE (7)
R-_E-_=ZF=ZA=+—8 " &&
= % B K B) A 1 18 B5 18 34,437,000
B t(— & — = 4 : 5,382,000
7T)  ATAREHER AR c AEE
B 5t & B E5 18 20,594,000 ;o (=
T~ =4 15,382,000/ 0 ) RIE
ERIAEE o A MEE ] AR B
Al 458 o

EHER HERALEEY
BekReZEMBETHER
ENARTAEENEHINES
A BRITMBRITERF RS
B RENF0.75% £ 0.875% (=
T =4 :0.01% E0.63%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

2. B 5 REMEBMARE

2024 2023
—E_E —E-=

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET

Trade payables =) ANE e 35,882 16,509
Accrued expenses FEETRAX 19,516 14,473
Deposits received and others ElIES RHEA 704 1,213
Total trade and other payables B RHEMERNRIBR 56,102 32,195

The credit period of trade payables is from 30 to 60 days from
the invoice date.

At 31 March 2024, included in the Group'’s trade payables is
a related company with carrying amount of HK$1,129,000
due to TD YACHTS which has common director with a
subsidiary of the Company.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on
the invoice date at the end of each reporting period.

BIRNFENERANBEEZERY
HBET30ZE 60K °

RZE_ME=A=+—H" &
CSEESENRERERTES
1,129,000 % T #) FE 1 B B 2 R TD
YACHTS (BAAR R A B A F A HF
ER)ZRE-

REREHR  REEZAHNE
RN TR RE DT o

2024 2023
SRS ———

HK$’000 HK$’000

TR TR

Within 30 days 30 KRR 13,643 7,150
31 to 60 days 31E60K 12,404 4,296
61 to 90 days 61 290K 1,717 1,578
91 to 120 days 91 E120K 197 1,414
Over 120 days fBiB 120K 7,921 2,071

35,882 16,509
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_ME=A=+—-RILFE

25. PROMISSORY NOTE PAYABLE

On 2 May 2023, the Company issued a promissory note
with the principal amount of HK$11,900,000 as part of the
the considerations for the Acquisition (Note 19). Under the
agreement of the Acquisition relating to the promissory note,
the promissory note is unsecured, carries interest at 5.0% per
annum and is payable on the maturity date of 1 May 2024.

At 31 March 2024, the promissory note with the fair value of
amount of HK$12,422,000 remained outstanding and the
effective interest rate in respect of the promissory note is
4.39% per annum. The amount is fully paid subsequent to the
end of the reporting period.

26. AMOUNTS DUE TO/FROM ASSOCIATES/NON-CONTROLLING

SHAREHOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES

At 31 March 2024, the amount of HK$10,000 (2023: due
to HK$101,000) due from Eastlink Marine and the amount
of HK$215,000 due to YLTK at 31 March 2023 which are
trade nature with an ageing within 30 days, unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable according to the credit term.
The remaining balances in prior year were non-trade nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to a non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries are non-trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 21. SRIT R EMERR

2024 2023
—EBUE —E-=

HK$’000 HK$°000

THET FET

Bank and other borrowings 1T REAERK
repayable as follows: BEHRRAT
On demand or within one year BRERY—FNR 8,296 —
More than one year but not A —FETHEARF
exceeding two years 199 —
8,495 =
Analysed as: i
Secured BER 522 —
Unsecured Ei i 7,973 —
8,495 -
Less: Amount due for settlement B mBBEETFR12{EA
within 12 months shown W EI B E B FIE
under current liabilities (8,296) —
Amount due for settlement after RBEaBENRI12EAR
12 months shown under FEEE R RIE
non-current liabilities 199 —
As at 31 March 2024, the bank and other borrowings are RZZEZWNF=A=+—8 " R1T
arranged at floating rates with an effective interest rate of 3.4% REMERIZZBNEGFE - BE
per annum. FREAE3.4% o
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying Zl»"“ﬂ%%%’b %fﬁﬁ{%?ﬂZEﬁﬁﬁ
amount of the bank borrowings approximate their fair values. HEANTFERE
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NOTES TOTHE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HESE

2024 2023
—E_E —Eg-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FET

Within one year —FR 5,256 898
Within a period of more than one year ~ #BiB—F{E i@
but not more than two years M F 2 HifE A 6,504 3,117
11,760 4,015
Less: Amount due for settlement with &, : BN B E TR 1218 A
12 months shown under WEI B O FIE
current liabilities (5,256) (898)
Amount due for settlement after FERBEBETHARI12MEAE
12 months shown under I HAEE R RIE
non-current liabilities 6,504 3,117
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate on the BHE_T_NF=-RA=+—HI*F
Group's lease liabilities was 3.40% during the year ended 31 B AEEHEES G MNEFYS
March 2024 (2023: 3.71%). HEERFEAE3I0%(ZE=Z=

F:3.71%) °
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29.

30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of BFr0.015 7T

HK$0.01 each A 58 A
Authorised SEE
At 1 April 2022, RZEBE__FPA—H -

31 March 2023 and —E_=F=A=Z+—H8K

29.

RiEE

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

BRA

Number of
shares

Shown as
25l
HK$°000
THET

31 March 2024 —E-NFE=A=+—H 5,000,000,000 50,000,000 N/A i B
Issued and fully paid CR{ITREARE
At 1 April 2022, MoB-—&mA—H -

31 March 2023 and “E-=F=ZA=1+—HK

31 March 2024 —ENMFE=A=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000 10,000
RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME 30. RIKEFIGHE

The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the
rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions. Except
for voluntary contribution, no forfeited contribution under the
MPF Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in
future years.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from
the MPF Scheme of HK$2,930,000 (2023: HK$2,037,000)
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income represent contributions paid
or payable to the MPF Scheme by the Group. No forfeited
contribution under the defined contribution retirement benefit
plans is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

R BERERHIERTESE
PR ARGt AEERRE
fit - BIESFENEELAKED
BENFH KBBEIULEEAZHN
EEE - REBEDE - BE
kEREERBHARBEMRAFETH
Lol se e st EME L HER - A&
EptaE st BlMEE—EEREL
ME R - B BRRERI - &
E] 3R 78 & &t &1 AR U SRR A A
ARG PR RS o

R BEREREMEERERIHE
B 28 18 & 51 81 E £ H R KR FIFT 2
#3X2,930,0008 T (ZE = =4F :
2,037,000 T ) iEAE B RRES
FTEIE AT SR B AR o BLEEM
FLIE fEFGR R 1B P 5T 81 8982 WAk K
A R DARL SR S FE AT A9 R 5K o
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NWF=A=1+—HILFE

30. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME (Continuea)
Defined benefit scheme
Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay Long Service Payment (‘LSP”)
to qualifying employees in Hong Kong upon retirement,
subject to a minimum of 5 years employment period.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the
Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any
positive/negative returns thereof (collectively, the “Eligible
Offset Amount”), for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable to
an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement’).

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June 2022,
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from
employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP.
The Abolition will officially take effect on the Transition Date
(i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR
is also expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist
employers for a period of 25 years after the Transition Date
on the LSP payable by employers up to a certain amount per
employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns,
after the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset
the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but are not eligible
to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. On the
other hand, the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
voluntary contributions made pre-, on or post-transition can
continue to be used to offset pre- and post-transition LSP.
Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the Transition Date will
be grandfathered and calculated based on the Last monthly
wages immediately preceding the Transition Date and the
years of service up to that date.

The Amendment Ordinance does not have significant impact
on the Group’s LSP liability with respect to employees that
participate in MPF Scheme.
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31. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

BARS 75 MR

R BmAEMEEFTEEN
RP - WEHREAEN  NREEDR]
MIATEEBITRS

In addition to the transactions, balances and commitments
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had entered into the following related party

transactions:

Name of related
companies

BBARER

Relationship

%

Nature of transactions

XHHE

Year ended/As at 31 March
BE=A=t-RLEE/

R=ZA=t-H

2024

—B_NEF
HK$’000

TET

2023

—BC=F
HK$’000

TERT

Kee Marine Service &  Entity over which one of the key - Management fee income 360 360
Consultant Limited management personnel of
the Group has control
AEBEERLT AEENHEP-—REE BRERRA
EEABHZERARNE
Vessels chartering costs = 9
R ARTE &R A
Eastlink Marine Associate of the Group Revenue from vessel chartering 51 256
and related services
RMEE AEEBERT gt & KRB R H A
Vessels chartering costs 860 1,543
WA B B AR
Metro Key Investment  Entity over which Interest expense of lease 6 11
Limited Mr. Wen has control liabilities
SHBBERAR  REAEHZERAEIE MEEBEHNERX
Repayment of lease liabilities 276 227
HEBEEN
YLTK Associate of the Group Revenue from vessel chartering N/A 14,687
and related services (Note)
R AEEBERT RAa e & KRB RS A e TER
(B aE)
Vessels chartering cost N/A 312
(Note)
AR SRR TER
(B aE)
Supply, installation, maintenance N/A 2,102
and removal cost (Note)
HE  ZF - RERREKXR TER
(Bt3E)

Annual Report 2024 %

189



190

NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

31. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

3. EARESWE 2

Name of related

companies Relationship

BBARER %

Nature of transactions

XaEME

Pyromagic Multi-media  Entity over which with common

Production Limited director of the subsidiary
BESEBRIE HEWBRARBEARESECE
BARRA]
Kwong Sang Engineering Entity over which with common
Company Limited director of the subsidiary
BERSHERAR EMNBARALAESCE
TD YACHTS Entity over which with common

director of the subsidiary

EfBARAARESZCE

Revenue from vessel chartering
and related services

W AR B S AR R AR A Y ek

Subcontracting costs

VAR DN

Revenue from provision of repair

and maintenance services
REREREERBTO KR
Cost of repair

BB
Cost of leasehold improvement

HEMERERK

Year ended/As at 31 March
BE=A=t-BLEE/
R=B=+—H

2024

—B-mE
HK$'000
TET

5,410

120

710

1,039

949

Note: On 2 May 2023, YLTK became a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group. For details, please refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial

statements of the Group.
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31.

32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management includes directors and senior management.
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other
members of key management of the Group was as follows:

31.

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

AN 7T R ER (&)
EFREEASHM
TEEHERRESFARRERE
c ARREERAEETIRER
EEMKENEHMIT

2024
—E-NF
HK$’000
FHT

2023
—m— =

—_

HK$’000
FHET

Short-term employee benefits HEHEERH 13,938 14,369

Post-employment benefits BRE% 12 12 7 57 89
13,995 14,458

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. EXEBERE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the AEEEEBEAEBEARANERAEENA

Group will be able to continue as a going concern while WERBBREFELE RKERE

maximising the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share
capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associate
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues as well as the issue of new debt.

fl 5 B AR T 0178 T 1R IR
B AEENEBERS F—F
AR T o

AEBNEARRBEITERFHE
HERNRERBESEEWFRN
RARRBHEE NEGEEE(BREEA
Kkt -

ARREZERMAERNRE - 1F
REBTON—HD - KARABESFZE
BEERERAHBENESKAREA
B REARBEENHERR
AEBKBEBXNERE - BITHK
ARBEITHEH FOEBBEAR
e
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

33. £ TH
(a)

£ TRNER

2024
—E-MF
HK$’000
FET

2023
—m—=

—_— =

HK$’000
FiB

Financial assets SRMEE
Amortised cost B 198,874 191,930
At FVTPL BRATE ABZE 2,628 —
Financial liabilities sRBE
Amortised cost HEHAAS 87,169 22,938
At FVTPL RAFESAERE 12,422 —

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include rental
deposits, trade and other receivables, amount due from
an associate, amounts due to associates, and non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, time deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, certain trade and other
payables and bank and other borrowings. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes of
consolidated financial statements. The risks associated
with certain of these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk

0

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is expected to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate time deposits and lease
liabilities. The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (see Note 23 for details). The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances. It is
the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating
rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value
interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-
rate bank balances. The analysis is prepared
assuming that the amount of assets at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. 50 basis point increase or decrease represent
the management’s assessment of the reasonable
possible change in interest rates of bank deposits.

If the interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant,
the potential effect on the Group’s post-tax profit
for each of the year ended 31 March 2024 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$320,000
(2023: HK$283,000).

Currency risk

The Group has no significant foreign currency risk
as all of the operations of the group entities are
denominated in HK$ which is also the functional
currency of the relevant group entities.

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

33. EMITA#)
h) EHEMREEEERBEZ)

5 E
(i) FEEE

7K 5 [ [ 4 2R [ E A R E
HERLkHERBERRD
RFEMEER - AKH
NI S 8% BARTT AR R (FF
BRE2HME23) AR
RenE8MERR - A&
B r IR nE N R E R T
EERRRITEHR N XK
B AKREHNBRASKH
fEREREFERE . N
BEREQIFEMXER -

BRI

T B E AT TR B
BRITEBOF RARE
E o IMIBRNERE
HREERBENREBFE
EENIIENE E bl
A 50 R IEEIEE D
A RITFERF R A IR
A REE E RIS ©

W I S8 00 4> 50 1 2
B ET A EAM 2 REFA
2 AEAEEREE=
E-MFE=A=+—A81t
FESFHRBIE RN
BEZESRIAEM B
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE_T—

mE=A=+t—HAILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class
of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
these assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures over the customers to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual debt at the end of each reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 19.9% (2023: 25.2%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer.
The Group’s concentration of credit risk on the top five
largest customers accounted for 69.7% (2023: 74.3%).
Management of the Group considered that the credit risk
of amounts due from these customers is insignificant after
considering their historical settlement record and credit
quality.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of
the lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, management assessed the
expected loss on trade receivables and contract assets
(which is measured at lifetime ECL) with gross carrying
amount of HK$62,847,000 and 52,398,000 (2023:
HK$46,686,000 and nil) individually for significant trade
debtors, collectively for remaining trade debtors and
contract assets by estimation based on historical credit
loss experience, and the forward-looking information at
the reporting date.

In addition, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that there has no default occurred for trade
receivables past due 90 days and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable due to long term/on-going
relationship and good repayment record from these
customers. Accordingly, HK$7,000 and 318,000 (2023:
recognised HK$369,000 and reversed HK$4,232,000)
loss allowances on ECL are recognised and reversed
during the year.

(b)

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

33. @I HEHE)

SEEREEEERBEK &)
=B R HE S ()

RZE_WMF=/F=+—H -
EREEEHERESBEBAM
AEE B TEZEBAKR
BREERATHERERER
62,847,000 % 7T % 52,398,000
BIT(ZE =4 : 46,686,000
BLRT)NESHRKFIERE
MEEMTBRBE(REESTE
EHEREEE) - 7‘7527%7@
BREIEEBBELHRERE

HEARRIBE M E R MR -

BEAN - AAREERABE0
HEE 5 MR IE I & IR E
B MERZERFRE
BRBEARRIFERGDEE
HERNER AR BEURE o
- FAERBEHEEEIER
RREEEEEET7,0008 T
5 318,000 T(ZE =4 :
£ #% 369,000 T M # [
4,232,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

33. @I HE)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

196

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

h) HEREEEERBEE)
=B m e K B S ()
REE A B B R T RS
B TSR R R -

Internal Other
credit rating Description Trade receivables financial assets
AEBEEFR it ¥ 5 BB REE HtteMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
of default and does not have any not credit-
significant past-due amounts impaired
(iVEN HFEHAEENORR  BXWJEARE BEFHEHSHEE 12@ARHAEE
BT BiE-TEEE B8
IR
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
dates but usually settle in full not credit-
impaired
EREE EBALERINARRERERTY BEFHEHEE 12E@ARHAEE
BB BE-I1EEE BE
B
Doubtful There have been significant Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL —
increases in credit risk since initial not credit- not credit-
recognition through information impaired impaired
developed internally or external
resources
A &E FRANMBABEHIINBEIRA BEFHEHEE BEFHBEHAEE
- B RS S R R AR BE-1EEE BE-1WEEE
ill B B
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
asset is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
e BRBREECEEERE REFHESHEE BEFHBEHEE
BiE—EERE BiE—EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the  Amount is written off Lifetime ECL —
debtor is in severe financial difficulty credit-impaired
and the Company has no realistic
prospect of recovery
i€z ERBRTEBARRBRENBA FRIECME EEFHEHEE

B MANR R E AR E RIAER H 2
WA EER

BE-EERE
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers. The
following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets
which are assessed on individual and collective basis
within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). The top five
trade debtors of the Group with significant outstanding
balances with gross carrying amount of HK$42,762,000

(2023: HK$33,666,000) are assessed individually.

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

33. @I HEHE)

(b)

SEEREEEERBEK &)
=B R 6 E S (E)
EAAEBEERKBRERN—
o AEBAERXFERNA
HEEFR - TRIEHEBE
SERFERAGHNEEESHE
BERBAER  HEZGETH
EHEEBEBANKRERN RS
EEEFHAEFERE) -
AEBAEEAKREELEHRE
BF M 42 {8 542,762,000 JT
(Z = = = & : 33,666,000
TIZEKRESEH AR @R
YEFLAS -

Gross carrying amount BRIETAE (8
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=
Trade
receivables
and
Average contract Average Trade
Internal credit rating loss rate assets loss rate receivables
B3
¥y ERNE 1 25
A BEE TR BELLE RENVEE N-E-DPEI TE¢
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR
Individual basis &l Bl E 4
— Low risk — K& B 0.00% 11,673 2.46% 2,957
— Watch list —EERRE 1.08% 78,409 2.75% 30,709
90,082 33,666
Collective basis SREARE
— Low risk — (KRR 0.01% 738 0.01% 470
— Watch list —ERyE 3.52% 24,426 3.84% 12,550
Sub-total /NEt 25,164 13,020
Total 5T 115,246 46,686
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NOTES TO'THE CONSGLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
nT = Ejﬁiﬁﬁpﬂni

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE_T—

mE=A=+t—RALLFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continueq)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
reversed HK$131,000 and HK$187,000 and recognised
HK$6,000 and nil (2023: reversed HK$917,000 and
HK$482,000) impairment allowance for trade receivables
based on individual assessment and collective
assessment, respectively. Also, the Group recognised
HK$1,000 impairment allowance for contract assets
based on individual assessment during the year ended 31
March 2024.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised (reversed) for trade receivables
and contract assets under the simplified approach.

33. EMTHE)

(b)

LREMEEBERBERE)
1EE R R EFS (&)
E_E-NE=A=1+—H1t
FE - AEBEMERFHENE
BESL(E 9 BB B B 5 e W F B
1B # 4% 131,000% 7T & 187,000
BIL Mo RIERE S EWER
TE B B 56,0008 T R E(=
T = %@m7m@%n&
482,000/87C) ° AN HE
ToE= A=t BILEE
zl&‘i B ENMER LR AN E
B E R 1,000 7T ©

IRETREBCTEAERES
FEUKIA N & KB EHER (& [E])

MREFHEHEEERED -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (not credit-

impaired) impaired)

Trade Contract

receivables assets

EEEHES EEAEHED

EEEE FEEE

(EEEERE) (iﬁ,ﬁfﬁ}ﬁiﬁ)
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET
As at 1 April 2022 RZE-_ZFWA—H 5,262 = 5,262
Impairment loss recognised ERRREEE 369 - 369
Impairment loss reversed BREREERE (4,232) - (4,232)
As at 31 March 2023 R_Z_=F=A=1—H 1,399 - 1,399
Arise on acquisition of subsidiaries  RUREEM B A RIME £ 414 205 619
Impairment loss recognised ERRREESE 6 1 7
Impairment loss reversed EREREESE (318) - (318)
As at 31 March 2024 RZE_MF=A=+—H 1,501 206 1,707

In determining the ECL for other receivables and rental RETERBEBREAHRE

deposit (which are measured at 12m ECL) with gross
carrying amount of HK$2,796,000 (2023: HK$3,227,000)
in aggregate, the management of the Group has taken
into account the historical default experience and
forward-looking information, as appropriate, for example,
the Group has considered the consistently low historical
default rate in connection with payments, and concluded
that credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding other
receivables and rental deposit are insignificant with low
risk.

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE 7525 £ Bk AR AR

2,796,000;‘%7%(:2:_$
3,227,000 7T ) & E 4t & I 5R
HEEERENEREERRE
(Z12@ ATEH{=EEE2)
B AEBEEEBCDEEAE
B N AT B R0 @
) - flinAREEE BRI FKIE R
A—EREBERENE  AMR
=N SETN S B N g N E =g
RELAEERENEEEFER
BAKRE  BXTEK-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Management of the Group considers time deposits
and bank balances (which is measured at 12m ECL)
with gross carrying amount of HK$134,711,000 (2023:
HK$143,416,000) that are deposited with the financial
institutions with high credit rating to be low credit risk
financial assets. The management of the Group considers
time deposits and cash and cash equivalents are short-
term in nature and the probability of default is negligible
on the basis of high-credit-rating issuers, and accordingly,
loss allowance was considered as insignificant with low
risk.

Other than the concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks with
gross carrying amounting to HK$134,711,000 (2023:
HK$143,416,000) as at 31 March 2024 with high credit
ratings, the Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties.

Liguidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests
with the management, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management
of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and
liquidity requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate reserves and borrowing facilities
and continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to

pay.

(b)

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

33. @I HEHE)

SEEREEEERBEK &)
=B R 6 E S (E)
AEBEEEEKERAER
134,711,000 (= T = =
F 1 143,416,00087T) * BF
BMREESEEFTRNS R
BHOTEHTERRRITEROR
12EAEBEEBBTZE)R
EEERBRENSREE - &
EIEEEW CRETHE

FUARRERACEEDBRE
Hﬂli%ﬁ BEHRBETAEES
EEFH  HWEOBMEBMT
Hip AEEREER AR
Rk BWTEK -

BR-_ZE-_MNF=A=+—H
BF T 42 8 & 134,711,000 7T
(ZZT = =4 : 143,416,000/
T BEFEHRZREEEEFEN
RITHRBESREEETNE
BRI BREERR S A
REZBEFT7 Eﬁ(zli'illﬁ
ERIEMEARERHEERR -

HEELEE
mENE & ﬁEEEBEH%ﬂE
RERBE TEBYBEEMNR
HESEREEER  UERE
rEEEH PHEREPES
MRBEZHNHER - NEBER
Lﬁgﬁmﬁm&a%ﬁim
e AR R R M
TRE - WEERDE AR

TRHAVNAEEHIFTESR
BEMNBRTEOBHAR - 1t
REBREBABARBBERASR
ERE EPUARKEAMNK
WP ERER -
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NUTES TOTHE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n'.R Uﬁiﬁipﬂ III

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. EMTA#E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) ) SFEMEEEERBEE)
Liguidity risk (Continueq) TEBELEE(E)
Liquidity tables mEBELF

Weighted
average  Ondemand 1 month Total
effective  or less than to 3 months 1-5 Over5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 3 months to 1 year years years  cash flows amount

il 3371 RERS 18R% 3EAZ B
ERAE  HMEA 38R 15 15E5% 5ENE RERBAR Rt
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TR Thx T THR T

At 31 March 2024 RZZZPE
SRR
Non-derivative financial FieemaRE
liabilities
Trade and other payables BAREMER
E = 14347 14,121 7674 a4 = 3,586 36,586
Amounts due tonon-controling ~~ FEATHBAE
shareholders of subsidiaries FERHEETE - 42,088 - - - - 42,088 42,088
Bank borowings RITER 340 119 27 1,067 4,498 3,936 9,857 8,495
Lease liabilties HEEE 34 505 1,010 4,359 6,773 - 12,647 11,760
57,059 15,368 13,100 1,715 39% 101,178 98,929
At 31 March 2023 i -
=h=t-8
Non-derivative financial FTESRER
liabilities
Trade and other payables BAREMER
A - 8,362 5,874 3,486 - - 17,722 17,722
Amounts due to associates ﬁ YN
F = 316 = = = S 316 316
Amount due to non-controling ~ JERF B A
shareholders of a subsidiary FEBRRRFE - 4,900 - - - - 4,900 4,900
Lease liabilties HERRE 3n 9% 192 816 3,504 - 4,608 4015
13674 6,066 4,30 3,504 = 27,546 26,953
(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments c) TEMTENAFER=
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities cREENEREENATEE
are determined in accordance with generally accepted TERBRBEESRESTRE
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis. NREEBENETE -
The management of the Group considers that the RAEEEERERR REaH
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities TR R IZE K ZVS N0k FHH‘E
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial EERSHBENRAENEE
statements approximate their fair values. NEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z_WE=A=+—RHIFE

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING 3. MERHFIEENEELHER

ACTIVITIES

The tables below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TERAMAEEREETDEENE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- EEH(RIERSRIIERSES) -
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are MEEHELEMNBERBEERE
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, A ERBEEREEME N ARE
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows MirEReERERPBEARME S
as cash from or used in financing activities: S MAREMNEE -

Amounts
due to
Amounts  non-controlling Bank
dueto  shareholders Other and other Lease

associates  of subsidiaries payables borrowing liabilities Total
ERBE EANERR #TR
AARE FBERERFE  HeERTE HipfeR HEEE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR TR THx THR THR THR

At 31 March 2022 B
ZA=1-H 2,851 4,900 = = 2218 9,969
Finance costs recognised (Note §) 2 BRBHERA (K& 9) - - - - 60 60
New leases entered BiUHHE - - - - 3,801 3,801
Operating cash flow BEReRE 2 - - - - 2
Financing cash flows BERENE 3 (7,839 (20,000 - (2,084) (29,864)
Dividends recognised as REARED RARS
distribution to shareholder = = 20,000 = = 20,000
Dividends recognised as ERERFERER
distrioution to non-controling 3 REIRE
interests = 7839 = = = 7,839
Dividends received from W NERE
associates (Notes 17) (HE17) (2.576) - - - - [2.576)
At 31 March 2023 R-T-=F
ZA=1-H 316 4,900 - - 4,015 9,231
Arise from acquisiion of RyERELRT
subsidlaries (Note 19) EE(W3t19) - 27411 - 9,522 5,761 42,754
Finance costs recognised (Note §) 2 BRBHERA (K 9) - - - 322 502 824
New leases entered RHRE[E - - - - 6,791 6,791
Operating cash flows BERENE (316) - - - - (316)
Financing cash flows BERENE - 4817 (18,000 (1,349) (5,309) (19,841)
Dividends recognised as EREAREARNRE
distrioution to shareholder - - 18,000 - = 18,000
Dividends recognised as ERERFEERES
ditribution to non-controling 2 EEIRE
interests - 4,900 - - - 4,900
At 31 March 2024 e 3
=A=1-H - 42,088 - 8,495 11,760 62,343
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

35. MBATIEHN
ARBNRE RN E R R E R

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries of the Company as at the end of the

reporting period are as follows: (N

Place and date of Issued and Attributable equity
Name of subsidiaries incorporation fully paid share interest to the Company Principal activities
Directly Indirectly
BRAR KOFEERR
KEAFER AR A HRRH E% 31
2004 2004
ZECME ey CZ-E
Yun Lee (BV) British Virgin Islands 1SSt 100% 100% = = Investment holding
16 November 2019
EN(ABABRER) ARGARES 157 RERK
“Z-PET-RTRH
KMY Marine Works & Hong Kong HK$13,500 = - 100% 100%  Provision of vessel chartering
Supplies Limited 25 September 2007 and related services
Bk 13,5007 RUthAEE
“RRLEAAZTRA PG
MKK Merine Services Limited Hong Kong HK$20,000 = = 100% 100%  Provision of ship
22 August 2014 management services
Bk 20,000 %7 RHERRE
“T-RENAZTZH
Yun Lee Tug Boat Hong Kong HK$120,000 = = 100% 100%  Provision of vessel chartering
Company Limited 15 November 1994 and related services
ENERERAT (3 1200007 RUMFEER
—WNBEt-A+1H i
Universal Maring Senvices Limited ~Hong Kong HK$10,000 = - 100% 100%  Investment holding
(‘Universal Mering’) 6 December 2002
FhEERBARLA BR 10,0007 RERK
([Thia%)) “RECETIRAA
Yun Lee Maring Hong Kong HK$10,000 = = 100% 100%  Provision of vessel chartering
Holdings Limited 30 January 2009 and related services
ENEEERARRA BR 10,0007 RUMAEER
“EENE-A=TR HERE
New Legend Ferry Services Hong Kong HK$30,000 = = 100% 51%  Provision of vessel chartering
Limited (*New Legend| 9 April 2018 and related services
nEREBREERART BR 30,0007 RS RIAERE
([7eE)) “Z-/\#MANA
Yun Lee Pyromagic and Hong Kong HK$100 = - 100% 51%  Provision of vessel chartering
DG Vessels Limited 4 January 2019 and related senvices
ANERETERekak BR 1007 RithEE
ERAA “Z-NF-RAEA RRERE

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited f8F/&%E £ EiER AR A A



35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Details of the subsidiaries of the Company as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows: (Continueq)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE_Z-_WF=A=+—HILFE

35. MBRRIER &)
RABRBEHROKE QR E R
wmr (&)

Name of subsidiaries

il PEEL

Place and date of
incorporation

Rk EE

Issued and
fully paid share

Attributable equity
interest o the Company
Directly Indirectly
Bk KAREGRE
HERA E# H#
2024 023 2024
ZECRE et C3NE

Principal activities

FRXR

CECCE

YunLee (Kwong Sang)
Marine Engineering Limited
BA (BE) Wi
BHERAA
Yun Lee Group Holdings Limited
ENREERARAT
YunLee (Tim Kee)
Marine Construction Limited
BH (R2) B2 IRARAA
ENEERE () BRAT

AlsEhE (RY) BRAR

Hong Kong HK$10,000 = = 51% — Provision of repair and
maintenance services
(3 10,0007 g A
Hong Kong HK$10,000 = = 100% = Project management
(3 10,0007 HRER
Hong Kong HK$100 = = 51% = Provision of marine
construction services
(3 10087 REEERERK
The PRC RMB200,000 = = 100% — Provision of repair and
maintenance services
i AFRH200,0007 REAERAERH

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests:

TREJAEEREBE NI AE
HHIEREMBRRFE

Name of subsidiaries

MEAREHE

Place of
incorporation

and principal

Proportion of ownership
interests held by
non-controlling interests

place of
business
B 3L
WEREE
EE$E

Accumulated
non-controlling interests

Profit allocated to
non-controlling interests

FERER TR REFERER
BEEERLA bl Rt FERER
2024 2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-MF —EComF —BC-=F —B-mE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TERT TR FTAERT

New Legend

e

YLTK

PERAVAES

Individually immaterial
subsidiary with
non-controlling interests

BAFERERNER
TEAMEAR

Hong Kong 49% 49% 6,312 6,220 35,953 34,536
EB
Hong Kong 49% = 551 = (1,049) =
£

(10,633) (1,722
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_ME=A=+—RHILFE

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continuea) 35.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

MEATER &)
BERABRAERGFERERNASEE
ZMBARMBERBESRT
T TIHRNBENRBEREBRAR
RIS HAT SRR °

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=

HK$’000 HK$°000

FHER FHR

New Legend HER
Current assets MBEE 23,972 11,964
Non-current assets EMENEE 67,768 72,000
Current liabilities mBAE (10,603) (6,540)
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE (7,652) (6,944)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A &1#E A A EIHER 37,532 35,944
Non-controlling interests eI IRt A 35,953 34,536
Revenue ON 68,817 62,724
Cost of sales THERKA (49,377) (45,725)
Expenses > (3,743) (3,277)
Profit and total comprehensive income FERMNREMBEEEE

for the year 13,005 12,691
Profit and total comprehensive income RARHER AEE T R

attributable to owners of the Company FHEN =BT 6,693 6,471
Profit and total comprehensive income FEVERRAE 2 PR G 5 1 J2

attributable to non-controlling interests 2R 4R % 6,312 6,220
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 25 #1 B f2 FJFIE AL AE 25

of New Legend A% 2. (4,900) (7,839)
Net cash inflow from operating activities KETHRERAFE 13,670 20,171
Net cash outflow used in investing activities & & EBFTAIR &

R (5) (8,678)
Net cash outflow used in financing activities @& AT AR &R T
R (10,000) (10,761)

Net cash inflow BEmMAFRE 3,665 732
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continueq) 35. B ARER (&)

2024
—BF
HK$’000
FExT
YLTK Group BRARTEER
Current assets RBEE 95,398
Non-current assets EMBEE 13,894
Current liabilities mENAE (117,345)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (2,931)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RARIHAE ANEGER (9,935)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R S (1,049)
Revenue WA 164,198
Cost of sales SHE KA (149,774)
Expenses Fx (20,649)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEEBEBLAEER L5
for the year (7,719)
Loss and total comprehensive expense RAFHEB NE(EEER
attributable to owners of the Company 2HEMAZ BT (8,270)
Loss and total comprehensive expense IR E (R EE R
attributable to non-controlling interests FHRAXERE 551
Net cash inflow from operating activities LEEBNIR® R AR 13,561
Net cash outflow used in investing activities KEEBMARS
i F R (8,672)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEESRBRAFE 174
Net cash inflow WEMAFE 5,063
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S B IS BR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE_T—

36.

37.

mE=A=+t—HAILFE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into
new lease agreements for the use of leased properties for 2
years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised
HK$6,791,000 (2023: HK$3,801,000) of right-of-use assets
and HK$6,683,000 (2023: HK$3,801,000) lease liabilities.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, dividend declared
from associates amounted to HK$2,576,000 had been settled
through amounts due to associates. Accordingly, there was
no contractual cash outflow to the Group.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 20 September 2018. The purpose of
the Share Option Scheme is to recognise and acknowledge
the contributions that the eligible participants have had
or may have made to the Group. The eligible participants
include any employee, directors, advisers, consultants,
suppliers, customers and agents to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the board of directors
of the Company and shall not be less than the highest of:
(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more
board lots of the shares on the offer date of the relevant
option, which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is
open for the business of dealing in securities (a “Trading Day”);
(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five Trading
Days immediately preceding the offer date of the relevant
option; and (i) the nominal value of a share on the offer date.
For the purpose of calculating the subscription price where the
Company has been listed for less than five Trading Days, the
offer price of the shares shall be used as the closing price of
the shares for any Trading Days falling within the period before
the listing date.

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited f8F/&%E £ EiER AR A A

36.

37.

FEFREXS

HE-_ZTZ-_W&E=ZA=+—A8H1
FE - AEBEHREREEWET
VEBERMENFHERZ - KA
EFBE $ElEﬁEwﬁEﬁHﬁE
& E6,791,000%8 (= T = =
# :3,801,000%% 5t ) X H & E
56,683,000 L(Z T = = F:
3,801,000/ 7T) °

BE_T-_=—F=-A=+—RHL*HF
- BERAAEIRRE L25mom)
,wu BB R A B RIB 4

o (AL, - $EIWHD%ﬁiM
ﬁo

UiRBHBERE2ARXS
ARRRZZE-N\FAAZTHEK
R RS EI(TRERUERT 8 )) - B
MRt 8l B B ﬁ&%%ﬁ/\é
K2 EECMASEEL A 5
AEEELNER - ééﬁ%%éﬁi%
BREARAHEEAMBRRNE
MBI EF - BfH - FE#HAH
fER - B RAEA -

E%H&%EJrilJTTEﬁHﬁ@E’Jﬁﬁﬁ‘iﬁ%
RAR T%%A?ZEE’M 1%

BERATNEENR ()Hx
F*HF‘%E%Hx%%?’JEIHH(M% #32F
AMmEEEFMAF(IRSAIE

BXAMBHRERREE—FHZ
FRAD PRV U T E ¢ (i) OB

EREEREZNEHIAER S
HEBMIXMEBARERMRNTY
Wi (i) ROREBELHBHHE
B RAEARRF LTRKELRE
BEX5AMREE RENBREE
FERELETBEBAERNRZSZBRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The Share Option Scheme will expire on 19 September 2028.

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when the
duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the
options duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance
in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration
for the grant thereof, is received by the Company within such
time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not be later
than 21 days from the offer date).

The exercise of any option shall be subject to the shareholders’
general meeting approval for any necessary increase in the
authorised share capital of the Company.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme established by the Company, if
any, is 100,000,000, representing 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme. The total maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme, if any, shall not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company.

No share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ-NF=A=1+—HILFE

3. URRIAHBERZARKE (&)

BREFEBENR_ZF_NFNHA
TABEIE -

ARRRRBL A EEBHERE (T5
ENBHBHES210)RERK
BRALAREENEABRENE
HWXMER - BRNFARRE1.00
BILZRBAER/RRLBRENKE
% BERENERIEFEREREE
AERARAREER -

E B R ENITEYALRRL K
RARGHE - DURBINARBEVEE
B e

RIFERET S R A ARIFZRILINE
A EMmERES (WA ) IR
HHEREREANERRNEE
#$100,000,000 % - 18 & B8 Ak 1
SR E B AR R B BITRAR
10% ° 1T B AR M 5T &8 R E ] E b
BREFE(NE)ETHMEE R
B FITEBREM A gE TR &
RN BETESEEARAG 2 ET
IRAK)10% ©

B R AT 81 DA - B
BER W - 1T(E -~ FESHERA -
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NOTES TO'THE CONS@LIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR 5 IS ER AR EE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE 38. B RRAQFHE
COMPANY

2024 2023
—E_E —E=-=

HK$’000 HK$°000

THET TET

Non-current assets FRBEE

Investment in a subsidiary R—EM B A FRE 63,504 63,504

Amount due from a subsidiary A EUNGIE S 26,111 26,617
89,615 90,121

Current assets REEE

Other receivables H b B W GRIE 79 72

Cash and cash equivalents HeMBEEEEY 2,370 6,002

2,449 6,074

Current liabilities k=R

Other payables H b e RUR 8,024 5,734

Amount due to a subsidiary FETHI /B A R38R 39,667 23,563
47,691 09,207

Net current liabilities REBEEFEHE (45,242) (23,223)
44,373 66,398

Capital and reserves EXR#HE

Share capital fi& 7 10,000 10,000

Reserves e 34,373 56,898

Total equity R A 44,373 66,898
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

RS RIS ER AR MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—HIEFE

38. MIBARRRRAQARE#)

Movement in the Company’s reserves ARERENEE
Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RGRE EREE ZitEE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FET FET
At 1 April 2022 R-B——
mA—H 133,728 4,634 (57,737) 80,625
Loss and total comprehensive FE &8 &
expense for the year 2HEMAY AR — — (3,727) (3,727)
Dividends paid B AR & — — (20,0000  (20,000)
At 31 March 2023 R_TE_=%F

=A=+—H 133,728 4,634 (81,464) 56,898
Loss and total comprehensive FE &8 &
expense for the year 2HEMAY AR — — (4,525) (4,525)
Dividends paid BARE — — (18,0000  (18,000)
At 31 March 2024 RN

=A=+—~H 133,728

4,634 (103,989) 34,373

Annual Report 2024 %

209



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B EE

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
Prospectus and the published audited financial statements, is set
out below. This summary does not form part of the audited financial

MEREAKREARERRE NREEZ
MHERREBERLEYBRFEZIRER
BE ABRERBIHINMT o N4
BV TBREEZHERRZ—FD °

statements.
RESULTS e
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
bl — T —fF —E-_F —E--—F —E-EF
HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000
FEx FHx FEx FHx FHxT
Revenue g 334,604 239,876 364,005 226,194 202,418
Gross profit EF 89,410 85,452 93,310 60,242 51,608
Profit for the year attributable to RARIEZEEA
equity holders of the Company FE(LFE 5 A 31,584 36,011 40,803 25,020 9,700
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY BE - BERERS
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
CZECE ey ey S =g FE R EE
HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000
FEx FHx FEx FHx FExT
Non-current assets ERBEE 183,055 143,497 125,370 114,379 86,465
Current assets MEBE 259,827 196,555 215,437 164,999 165,320
Total assets BEE 442,882 340,052 340,807 279,378 251,785
Current liabilities mEaR 131,522 38,570 58,943 29,304 24,599
Net current assets RBEEFE 128,305 157,985 156,494 135,695 140,721
Total assets less current liabilities ~ AEEmMTEHAEZ 311,360 301,482 281,864 250,074 227,186
Net assets BEFE 289,244 284,202 270,586 241,546 221,353
Equity attributable to equity holders AN B HEH A
of the Company FEfE 2R 264,973 251,388 235377 207,574 187,554
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